UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2003

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number: 000-22167

EURONET WORLDWIDE, INC.

(Exact name of the registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 74-2806888 (I.R.S. employer identification no.)

4601 COLLEGE BOULEVARD, SUITE 300 LEAWOOD, KANSAS 66211 (Address of principal executive offices)

(913) 327-4200 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES \boxtimes No \square

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ⊠ No □

APPLICABLE ONLY TO CORPORATE ISSUERS:

As of October 31, 2003 the Company had 26,951,393 common shares outstanding.

Table of Contents

Part 1. Financial Information	3
Item 1. Financial Statements	4
Consolidated Balance Sheets	4
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)	5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	6
Notes to the Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	16
<u>Overview</u>	16
Segment Summary Results of Operations	17
Recurring and Non-Recurring Items	17
Comparison of Operating Results for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2003 and the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003	18
<u>Liquidity and Capital Resources</u>	29
Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Items	31
Balance Sheet Items	31
Critical Accounting Policies	35
Impact of Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted	35
Forward-Looking Statements	36
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	36
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	37
Part II. Other Information	38
<u>Item 2. Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	38
<u>Item 4.</u> <u>Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders</u>	38
<u>Item 6. Exhibits and Report on Form 8-K</u>	38
<u>Signatures</u>	39
Exhibit Index	40
Exhibit 31(a)	41
Exhibit 31(b)	42
Exhibit 32(a)	43
Exhibit 32(b)	44
Exhibit 99 1	45

PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of Euronet Worldwide, Inc. ("Euronet" or the "Company") included herein have been prepared by the Company, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations, although the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to enable a reasonable understanding of the information presented. These Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2002.

The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year 2003.

EURONET WORLDWIDE, INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except for share and per share data) (Unaudited)

	As	s of
	Sept. 30, 2003	Dec. 31, 2002
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 12,851	\$ 12,021
Restricted cash and cash held on behalf of others	43,379	4,401
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of \$679 at September 30, 2003 and \$484 at December 31, 2002	49,968	8,380
Earnings in excess of billings on software installation contracts	729	334
Deferred income taxes	428	426
Assets held for sale	_	10,767
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	8,936	3,537
Total current assets	116,291	39,866
Property, plant and equipment, net	18,214	21,394
Goodwill	63,263	1,834
Deferred income taxes	305	1,064
Other assets, net	20,366	2,401
Total assets	\$ 218,439	\$ 66,559
Total assets	Ψ 210,433	Ψ 00,555
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Trade accounts payable	\$ 67,846	\$ 2,989
Current installments of obligations under capital leases and notes payable	6,038	3,447
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	27,458	4,979
Deferred income tax	_	_
Short-term borrowings	931	380
Advance payments on contracts	2,139	2,966
Accrued interest on notes payable	2,366	_
Liabilities held for sale		3,537
Billings in excess of earnings on software installation contracts	1,121	1,471
Total current liabilities	107,899	19,769
Obligations under capital leases, excluding current installments	2,336	4,301
Notes payable	59,383	36,318
Deferred income tax	3,252	_
Other long-term liabilities	3,207	
Total liabilities	176,077	60,388
Stockholders' equity:		
Common stock, \$0.02 par value. Authorized 60,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 26,832,523 shares at September 30, 2003 and 23,883,072 shares at December 31, 2002	536	480
Preferred stock, \$0.02 par value, Authorized 10,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 0 shares at September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002.	_	
Additional paid in capital	158,854	137,426
Treasury stock	(145)	(145)
Employee loans for stock	(427)	(427)
Accumulated deficit	(115,635)	(129,655)
Restricted reserve	784	784
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(1,638)	(2,334)
Other	33	42
Total stockholders' equity	42,362	6,171
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 218,439	\$ 66,559
Total Infolities and Stockholders equity	ψ 210,433	Ψ 00,333

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

EURONET WORLDWIDE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data) (Unaudited)

	Three	Three months ended Sept. 30, Nine months en		onths ended Sept. 30, Nine months end		Nine months e		. 30,
	2003		:	2002		2003		2002
Revenues:			· <u></u>					
EFT processing services	\$ 12,9	925	\$	13,753	\$	36,983	\$	38,839
Prepaid processing services	36,5	532		_		86,096		_
Software and related services	3,6	504		4,136		11,223		13,615
Total	53,0	061		17,889		134,302	_	52,454
Operating expenses:								
Direct operating costs	34,7	723		7,848		86,862		21,597
Salaries and benefits	8,2	266		6,368		22,633		18,608
Selling, general and administrative	3,3	315		1,769		8,263		4,835
Depreciation and amortization	3,0	067		2,519		8,919		6,930
Total operating expenses	49,3	371		18,504	_	126,677	_	51,970
Operating income	3,6	690		(615)	-	7,625		484
			_		_			
Other income (expenses)	-	200		CO		020		225
Interest income		300		63		926		227
Interest expense	(1,8	337)		(1,446)		(5,358)		(4,807)
Loss on facility sublease		_		(249)				(249)
Gain on sale of U.K. subsidiary		_				18,001		
Equity in income from investee companies	2	246		(159)		380		(159)
Loss on early retirement of debt		_		(791)		_		(955)
Foreign exchange loss, net	(2	234)		222		(5,193)		(3,179)
Total other income (expense)	(1,5	525)		(2,360)		8,756		(9,122)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and								
minority interest	2 1	165		(2,975)		16,381		(8,638)
Income tax (expense) benefit		740)		449		(2,310)		1,852
Income (loss) from continuing operations before minority interest	1 /	425		(2,526)	_	14,071		(6,786)
Minority interest	1,-			30		14,071 —		77
Income (loss) from continuing operations	1,4	425		(2,496)		14,071		(6,709)
Discontinued operations:								
Income (loss) from operations of discontinued U.S. and France								
components		(49)		(12)		(51)		4,976
Income tax expense		<u> </u>		Ĺ		—		(1,935)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations		(40)		(12)	_	(E1)	_	2 0/1
income (toss) from discontinued operations		(49)		(12)	_	(51)		3,041
Net income (loss)	1,3	376		(2,508)		14,020		(3,668)
Translation adjustment	(3	361)		(220)		696		210
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$ 1,0	015	\$	(2,728)	\$	14,716	\$	(3,458)
		_	_		_		_	
Income (loss) per share – basic:								
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share Income from discontinued operations per share	\$ 0	.05	\$	(0.11)	\$	0.54	\$	(0.29) 0.13
income from discondinact operations per share		<u> </u>			_		_	0.15
Net income (loss) per share	\$ 0	.05	\$	(0.11)	\$	0.54	\$	(0.16)
Basic weighted average outstanding shares	26,700,5	521	23,	394,036	20	6,158,391	22	2,982,394
Income (loss) per share – diluted:								
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share	\$ 0	.05	\$	(0.11)	\$	0.49	\$	(0.29)
Income from discontinued operations per share	, ,	_	7	_	-	_	+	0.13
Net income (loss) per share	\$ 0	.05	\$	(0.11)	\$	0.49	\$	(0.16)
Dilucida scienced assessment of the latest and the	20.222.0	202	- 00	204.026		0.421.442		0.000.004
Diluted weighted average outstanding shares	29,232,0	JU3	23,	394,036	28	8,431,142	22	2,982,394

EURONET WORLDWIDE, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands of U.S. dollars) (Unaudited)

	Nine months e	nded Sept. 30,
	2003	2002
Net income (loss)	\$ 14,020	\$ (3,668)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	8,919	6,930
Unrealized foreign exchange loss	5,145	4,477
Gain on sale of subsidiary	(18,001)	
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax		(2,988)
Gain on disposal of fixed assets	(931)	
Deferred income tax benefit (expense)	2,933	(1,857)
Increase in assets and liabilities held for sale	_	863
Accretion of discount on notes payable	32	2,482
Gain on extinguishment of debt	_	955
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition:		
Increase in restricted cash	(13,380)	_
Decrease in trade accounts receivable	6,205	1,362
Increase (decrease) in prepaid expenses and other current assets	(2,534)	1,662
Increase (decrease) in trade accounts payable	4,581	(1,631)
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities	5,203	(1,740)
Decrease in billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on software installation costs	(350)	312
Other	(974)	328
ome:		
Net cash provided by operating activities	10,868	7,487
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Fixed asset purchases	(2,713)	(3,710)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets	2,910	183
Purchase of intangible and other long-term assets	(966)	(339)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(28,712)	
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary	24,418	_
Purchase of restricted certificates of deposits	_	(1,995)
Net cash used in investing activities	(5,063)	(5,861)
ivet cash used in investing activities	(5,003)	(3,001)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Proceeds from issuance of shares and other capital contributions	3,022	16,830
Repayment of notes payable	(4,806)	
Repayment of credit facility		(2,000)
Repayment of obligations under capital leases	(3,618)	(5,063)
Proceeds from (repayment of) other borrowings	551	(10,923)
Other	(10)	78
Net cash used in financing activities	(4,861)	(1,078)
7766 . 6 1 2166		(4.50)
Effect of exchange differences on cash	(114)	(150)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations	_	5,872
Cash provided by discontinued operations	_	250
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	830	6,520
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	12,021	8,311
Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of period	12,021	0,311
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 12,851	\$ 14,831

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements. See Note 4 for details of significant non-cash transactions

EURONET WORLDWIDE, INC.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1—GENERAL

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Euronet and subsidiaries have been prepared from the records of the Company, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. In the opinion of management, such unaudited consolidated financial statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal, recurring accruals) necessary to present fairly the financial position of the Company at September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002, the results of its operations for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, and cash flows for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 and 2002.

The unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Euronet Worldwide, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2002, including the notes thereto, set forth in the Company's Form 10-K.

The results of operations for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

For a description of the accounting policies of the Company, see Note 3 to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 set forth in the Company's Form 10-K.

Revenue And Operating Expense For Prepaid Processing

The Company derives its prepaid processing revenues through processing the transactions of sales of prepaid mobile phone top-ups and international prepaid calling plans. Revenue is recognized when a transaction has been processed or delivery has been made, as there are no significant vendor obligations remaining and collection is probable.

Revenue related to the processing of sales of mobile phone top-ups and international calling cards represents commissions received from network or service providers. All revenues exclude value added tax. The related operating expense for these transactions represents the net amount due to retailers using the e-pay Ltd. ("e-pay") infrastructure. In certain cases the Company is not responsible for collection of cash from the retailer. In such instances, no operating expense is recorded for the transaction.

SFAS 150

In May 2003, Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 150 (SFAS 150), "Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity" was issued. SFAS 150 requires certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity to be classified as liabilities. Many of these instruments were previously classified as equity or temporary equity. As such, SFAS 150 represents a significant change in practice in the accounting for a number of mandatory redeemable equity instruments and certain equity derivatives that frequently are used in connection with share repurchase programs. SFAS 150 is effective for all financial instruments created or modified after May 31, 2003, and to other instruments for the first interim period beginning after September 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

SFAS 148 and SFAS 123—Stock-based Employee Compensation

The Company accounts for its stock-based employee compensation plans under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and related interpretations. Accordingly, compensation cost for stock options is measured as the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the Company's shares at the date of the grant over the exercise price.

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure," an amendment of FASB Statement 123. This statement provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. Additionally, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for

stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The transition guidance and annual disclosure provisions are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The interim disclosure provisions are effective for financial reports containing financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" as amended by SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure," to stock-based employee compensation (in thousands, except per share data):

	For the three months ended Sept. 30,			
	2003	2002	2003	2002
Net income (loss), as reported	\$1,376	\$(2,508)	\$14,020	\$(3,668)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method				
for all awards, net of related tax effects	886	1,285	3,085	3,391
Pro forma net income (loss)	\$ 490	\$(3,793)	\$10,935	\$(7,059)
Earnings (loss) per share:				
Basic—as reported	\$ 0.05	\$ (0.11)	\$ 0.54	\$ (0.29)
Basic—pro forma	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.16)	\$ 0.42	\$ (0.31)
Diluted—as reported	\$ 0.05	\$ (0.11)	\$ 0.49	\$ (0.29)
Diluted—pro forma	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.16)	\$ 0.38	\$ (0.31)

Pro forma impact reflects only options granted since December 31, 1995; therefore, the full impact of calculating compensation cost for stock options under SFAS No. 123 is not reflected in the pro forma amounts presented above because compensation cost is reflected over the options' vesting periods and compensation cost for options granted prior to January 1, 1996 is not considered.

SFAS 143

In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" (SFAS 143). The Company adopted SFAS 143 on January 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 143 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position or result of operations.

FIN 46

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities—an Interpretation of ARB No. 51" (FIN 46). FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN 46 is effective immediately for variable interest entities created or acquired after January 31, 2003. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

There have been no further significant additions to or changes in the accounting policies of the Company since December 31, 2002.

NOTE 3—EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE—BASIC AND DILUTED

Basic earnings per share have been computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Dilutive earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that could occur if dilutive stock options and warrants were exercised using the treasury stock method, where applicable. The effect of potential common stock (options and warrants outstanding) is antidilutive for periods in which a net loss occurs. Accordingly, diluted net loss per share does not assume the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants. The potentially dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and warrants is as follows:

	Three mon Sept.		Nine mont Sept.	
	2003	2002	2003	2002
Basic weighted average shares outstanding	26,700,521	23,394,036	26,158,391	22,982,394
Convertible warrants outstanding	146,065	125,686	129,597	179,255
Stock options outstanding*	2,385,417	1,928,199	2,143,154	2,644,123
Potentially diluted weighted average shares outstanding	29,232,003	25,447,921	28,431,142	25,805,772

^{&#}x27; Includes options with strike price below the average fair market value of Euronet common shares during the period.

The table above does not reflect options of 3,847,438 for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 3,605,175 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 that have an exercise price in excess of the average market price of Euronet common shares during the period. These options may have an additional dilutive effect in the future if the average market value of Euronet common shares rises above the exercise price of the options.

NOTE 4—BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, "Business Combinations" (SFAS 141), the Company allocates the purchase price of its acquisitions to the tangible assets, liabilities and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. The excess purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. The fair value assigned to intangible assets acquired is supported by valuations prepared by an independent third party appraisal firms using estimates and assumptions provided by management. The intangible assets recorded as a result of the e-pay acquisition are not deductible for tax purposes. In accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" (SFAS 142), goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives resulting from business combinations will not be amortized but instead will be tested for impairment at least annually (more frequently if certain indicators are present). In the event that the Company determines that the value of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives has become impaired, the Company will incur an accounting charge for the amount of impairment during the fiscal quarter in which the determination is made.

Purchase of e-pay

In February 2003, the Company purchased 100% of the shares of e-pay Limited ("e-pay"), a company based in the U.K. e-pay is an electronic payments processor of prepaid mobile phone airtime "top-up" services in the U.K. and Australia. It has agreements with mobile operators in those markets under which it supports the distribution of prepaid airtime to their subscribers through point-of-sale (POS) terminals in retail outlets. Today, we process top-up sales at more than 75,000 points of sale, including the mobile operators' own retail outlets, major retail chains and independent retail outlets in 29,000 locations across eight countries. In addition to the U.K. and Australia operations, e-pay owns 40% of the shares of e-pay Malaysia, a separate company that offers electronic top-up services through approximately 2,600 POS terminals in Malaysia.

The assets acquired include tangible long-term assets, such as computer equipment and other fixed assets, working capital and intangible assets, such as customer relationships, computer software, trademarks and trade names and goodwill. A substantial amount of the purchase price was allocated to intangible assets including goodwill.

In connection with the acquisition, on May 28, 2003, Euronet increased the size of its Board of Directors by one member and nominated and recommended for election a new Class III director, Paul Althasen, formerly an e-pay shareholder. Subsequently, Mr. Althasen was elected to the Board of Directors.

Purchase Price

The purchase price for the e-pay shares was approximately \$76.2 million, including transaction costs and fees of approximately \$1.4 million. Of the total purchase price, \$30.0 million was paid in cash at closing, \$18.0 million was paid through issuance at closing of 2,497,504 shares of common stock, and the remaining \$26.9 million will be paid in deferred purchase price or under promissory notes executed at closing with 24 month maturity dates bearing interest rates ranging from 6% to 8%. The deferred portion of the purchase price, approximately \$8.5 million, is payable based upon e-pay's Excess Cash Flow, as defined in the acquisition agreement, with any remaining unpaid balance due in 24 months. Approximately \$7.4 million of the notes (the "Convertible Notes") are convertible into common stock at the option of the holders at a conversion price of \$11.43 per share, or approximately 647,282 shares. The Convertible Notes may be redeemed by Euronet, in whole but not in part, under certain conditions, including if the average market price of the common stock over a thirty consecutive trading day period exceeds \$15.72, for common stock at a redemption price of

\$11.43 per share. The conversion price and the redemption price are subject to customary anti-dilution provisions. The remaining \$11.0 million of promissory notes are not convertible.

The following table summarizes the total cost of the acquisition of e-pay (unaudited, in thousands):

Note: All amounts are included as of the purchase price date. Certain small changes are ongoing, due to foreign exchange fluctuations and minor adjustments to acquisition costs.

Cash paid at closing	\$29,996
Euronet common stock: 2,497,504 shares	17,972
Deferred consideration, payable quarterly from 90% of free cash flow, 6% interest per annum accruing daily, 24 month maturity	8,533
Notes payable, 7% interest per annum, convertible into 647,282 shares of Euronet common stock, 24 month maturity	7,353
Notes payable, 8% interest per annum, 24 month maturity	10,981
Total paid to shareholders	74,835
Transaction costs and share registration fees	1,358
Total purchase price	\$76,193

Assets Acquired

Note: All amounts are included as of the purchase price date. Certain small changes are ongoing, due to foreign exchange rates and minor reallocations of consideration.

Under the purchase method of accounting, management has made a preliminary allocation of the total purchase price to the acquired tangible and intangible assets based on an estimate of their fair values at the acquisition date. Management has engaged third party appraisers to assist in this analysis and expects to finalize the purchase price allocation prior to year end. The purchase price was allocated as follows (unaudited, in thousands):

Description	Estimated Life	Amount
Customer relationships	8 years	\$12,820
Software	5 years	1,038
Trademark and trade name	indefinite	3,433
Goodwill	N/A	61,249
Total intangible assets	-	78,540
Net tangible assets and working capital	various	1,810
Deferred tax liability	N/A	(4,157)
Total purchase price	_	\$76,193

Of the total estimated purchase price, approximately \$64.7 million has been allocated to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite lives. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the fair value of the underlying net tangible and intangible assets.

In accordance with SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives resulting from business combinations completed subsequent to December 31, 2001, will not be amortized but instead will be evaluated for impairment at least annually (more frequently if certain indicators are present). In the event that the management determines that the value of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives has become impaired, the Company will incur an accounting charge for the amount of impairment during the fiscal quarter in which the determination is made.

Pro forma results

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations of Euronet and e-pay as if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of the periods presented. Adjustments have been made to the results of operations for the periods reflecting amortization of purchased intangibles and interest expense, net of tax, as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented. The unaudited pro forma financial information is not intended to represent or be indicative of the consolidated results of operations or of Euronet that would have been reported had the acquisition been completed as of the dates presented, and should not be taken as representative of the future consolidated results of operations of Euronet.

The following schedule presents the pro forma combined results of operations of Euronet and e-pay as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2003 (unaudited, in thousands):

		Nine months ended Sept. 30, 2003			
	As repor	ted	Acquisition of e-pay	Pro	forma
Revenues	\$ 134,3	802	\$ 9,400	\$ 14	43,702
Income from continuing operations	14,0	71	828		14,899
Net income	14,0	20	828		14,848
Income per share—basic					
Income from continuing operations	\$ 0	.54		\$	0.57
Net income	\$ 0	.54		\$	0.57
Income per share—diluted					
Income from continuing operations	\$ 0	.49		\$	0.51
Net income	\$ 0	.49		\$	0.51

The following schedule presents the pro forma combined results of operations of Euronet and e-pay as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2002 (unaudited, in thousands):

		Nine months ended Sept. 30, 2002			
	Ası	reported	Acquisition of e-pay	P	ro forma
				ìn	ljusted for clusion of ay results)
Revenues	\$	52,454	\$ 32,754	\$	85,208
Income (loss) from continuing operations		(6,786)	1,859		(4,927)
Net income (loss)		(3,668)	1,735		(1,933)
Income (loss) per share—basic					
Income from continuing operations	\$	(0.29)		\$	(0.21)
Net income	\$	(0.16)		\$	(80.0)
Income (loss) per share—diluted					
Income from continuing operations	\$	(0.29)		\$	(0.21)
Net income	\$	(0.16)		\$	(80.0)

Purchase of assets of Austin International Marketing and Investments, Inc.

On September 22, 2003 we purchased all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Austin International Marketing and Investments, Inc. (AIM), a Kansas corporation. AIM is a U.S.-based electronic "top-up" company, processing prepaid transactions via point of sale terminals in 36 states on approximately 1,900 POS terminals. Generally, this business will operate as part of the U.S.-based prepaid service branded as PaySpot.

The assets acquired include working capital and intangible assets, primarily customer relationships and goodwill. A substantial amount of the purchase price was assigned to intangible assets and goodwill.

The purchase price of the assets was \$2.8 million, including assumed liabilities of \$0.9 million. Of the total purchase price, \$0.8 million was paid in cash at closing and \$1.2 million was paid through the issuance at closing of 114,374 shares of common stock. An additional amount up to \$5.5 million in stock and cash may become payable based on the achievement of defined financial results. Approximately 30% of any additional amount is payable in cash and 70% in shares of common stock. Under the purchase method of accounting, management has made a preliminary allocation of the total purchase price to the acquired tangible and intangible assets based on an estimate of their fair values at the acquisition date. Management has engaged third party appraisers to assist in this analysis and expects to finalize the purchase price allocation prior to year end.

Of the total estimated purchase price, management has made a preliminary allocation of approximately \$2.0 million to goodwill and other intangibles assets at the acquisition date. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the fair value of the underlying net tangible and intangible assets. Based on preliminary valuations, approximately \$0.6 million of the total purchase price will be allocated to amortizable intangible assets, primarily customer relationships, with an average life of approximately 8-9 years. Annual amortization expense is expected to approximate \$0.08 million. In the event the purchase price increases due to the achievement of certain financial results, the amount of the purchase price assigned to amortizable intangibles as well as the related amortization expense may also increase.

In accordance with SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives resulting from business combinations completed subsequent to December 31, 2001, will not be amortized but instead will be evaluated for impairment at least annually (more

frequently if certain indicators are present). In the event that management determines that the value of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives has become impaired, the Company will incur an accounting charge for the amount of impairment during the fiscal quarter in which the determination is made.

NOTE 5—SALE OF SUBSIDIARY

Sale of U.K. ATM Network

In January 2003, the Company sold 100% of the shares in its U.K. subsidiary, Euronet Services (U.K.) Ltd. (or "Euronet U.K.") to Bridgepoint Capital Limited (or "Bridgepoint"). This transaction was effected through a Share Purchase Agreement (the "Acquisition Agreement") whereby EFT Services Holding B.V. ("Euronet Holding"), a Netherlands corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Euronet, sold all of its shares of Euronet U.K. to Bank Machine (Acquisitions) Limited ("BMAL"), a U.K. company owned by Bridgepoint, for approximately \$29.4 million in cash, subject to certain working capital adjustments. Of this amount, \$1.0 million was placed in escrow or otherwise retained subject to the completion and settlement of certain post-closing matters and adjustments, with the remainder paid in cash at closing. The Acquisition Agreement provides that the benefits and burdens of ownership of the shares and all employees of Euronet U.K. were transferred to Bridgepoint effective as of January 1, 2003. Euronet Worldwide, Euronet Holding and BMAL are parties to the Acquisition Agreement. The Acquisition Agreement includes certain representations, warranties and indemnification obligations of Euronet concerning Euronet U.K., which are customary in transactions of this nature in the U.K., including a "Tax Deed" providing for the indemnification of Bridgepoint by Euronet against tax liabilities of Euronet U.K. that relate to the periods prior to January 1, 2003, but arise after the sale.

Simultaneous with this transaction, Euronet and Bank Machine Limited (which is the new name of Euronet U.K. following the acquisition) signed an ATM and Gateway Services Agreement (the "Services Agreement") under which Euronet's Hungarian subsidiary, Euronet Adminisztracios Kft. ("Euronet Hungary"), will provide ATM operating, monitoring, and transaction processing services ("ATM Services") to Bank Machine Limited through December 31, 2007. The services provided by Euronet Hungary are substantially identical to the services provided to Euronet U.K. prior to its sale to Bridgepoint.

Management has allocated \$4.5 million of the total sale proceeds of \$29.4 million to the Services Agreement. This amount will be accrued to revenues on a straight-line basis over the five-year contract term beginning January 1, 2003. This amount represents management's best estimate of the fair value of the services to be provided under the agreement.

The results of operations of Euronet U.K. continue to be included in continuing operations due to the ongoing revenues generated under the Services Agreement.

Gain on Sale

The following table summarizes the gain on the sale of Euronet U.K. (unaudited, in thousands):

Sale price of Euronet U.K.	\$ 29,423
Less: Portion of sale price attributed to estimated fair value of ATM Services	(4,500)
Total consideration received attributed to Purchase Agreement	24,923
Less: Net transaction and settlement costs	(505)
Net cash consideration received	24,418
Less: value of net assets removed as of December 31, 2002	
Euronet U.K. assets removed	(10,326)
Euronet U.K. liabilities removed	3,537
Other liabilities removed	372
Gain on sale	\$ 18,001

Euronet U.K.'s assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2002, a summary of which is as follows (unaudited, in thousands):

	De	As of ec. 31, 2002
Comment accepts	<u> </u>	1 240
Current assets	\$	1,240
Fixed assets		9,086
Total assets held for sale	\$	10,326
	_	
Current liabilities	\$	2,866
Long-term liabilities	_	671
Total liabilities held for sale	\$	3,537

NOTE 6—BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

Loss on facility sublease

Total other (expense)

minority interest

Minority interest

Loss on early retirement of debt

Foreign exchange gain (loss) net

Equity in losses from investee companies

Segment assets as of December 31, 2002

Fixed assets as of December 31, 2002

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and

For the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Euronet operated in three business segments: (i) a segment that provides an independent shared ATM network and other electronic payment processing services to banks, retail and financial institutions (the "EFT Processing Segment"); (ii) a segment that provides electronic prepaid recharge, or top-up, services for retailer stores and mobile telephone operators (the "Prepaid Processing Segment"); and (iii) a segment that produces application software and solutions for payment and transaction delivery systems (the "Software Solutions Segment"). These business segments are supported by a corporate service segment, which provides corporate and other administrative services to the three business segments (the "Corporate Services Segment"). The accounting policies of each segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The Company evaluates performance based on profit or loss from operations before income taxes, foreign exchange gain (loss), and minority interest not including nonrecurring gains and losses. Prior period segment information has been restated to conform to the current period's presentation.

The following tables present the segment results of the Company's operations for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 (unaudited, in thousands):

	`	·	Three	months ended Se	pt. 30, 2003		
	EFT Processing	Prepaid Processing	Software Solutions	Corporate Services	Total Segments	Eliminations	Consolidated
Total revenues	\$ 12,925	\$ 36,532	\$ 3,659	\$ —	\$ 53,116	\$ (55)	\$ 53,061
Direct operating cost	4,932	29,583	207	_	34,722	1	34,723
Salaries and benefits	3,463	1,954	2,152	696	8,265	1	8,266
Selling, general and administrative	399	1,116	640	1,211	3,366	(51)	3,315
Depreciation and amortization	1,834	922	296	20	3,072	(5)	3,067
Total operating expenses	10,628	33,575	3,295	1,927	49,425	(54)	49,371
Operating income (loss)	2,297	2,957	364	(1,927)	3,691	(1)	3,690
*	-	256		40	200		200
Interest income	6	276	_	18	300	_	300
Interest expense	(144)	(4) 292		(1,689)	(1,837) 246		(1,837) 246
Income—unconsolidated companies	_	292	_	(46)		6	
Foreign exchange (loss) gain, net				(240)	(240)		(234)
Total other (expense) income	(138)	564	_	(1,957)	(1,531)	6	(1,525)
Total other (expense) meome	(150)			(1,557)	(1,551)		(1,323)
Income (loss) from continuing analytical before income tours and							
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest	\$ 2,159	\$ 3,521	\$ 364	\$ (3,884)	\$ 2,160	\$ 5	\$ 2,165
Segment assets as of September 30, 2003	\$ 42,527	\$ 161,016	\$ 6,693	\$ 8,203	\$ 218,439	\$ —	\$ 218,439
Fixed assets as of September 30, 2003	\$ 15,585	\$ 1,920	\$ 735	\$ —	\$ 18,240	\$ (26)	\$ 18,214
			Thuse	autha audad Car	-4 20 2002		
			Three	e months ended Se	pt. 30, 2002		
	EFT Processing	Prepaid Processing	Software Solutions	Corporate Services	Total Segments	Eliminations	Consolidated
Total revenues	\$ 13,753	\$ —	\$ 4,181	\$ —	\$ 17,934	\$ (45)	\$ 17,889
Direct operating cost	7,622	_	181	_	7,803	45	7,848
Salaries and benefits	2,914	_	3,058	396	6,368		6,368
Selling, general and administrative	(62)	_	1,128	793	1,859	(90)	1,769
Depreciation and amortization	2,195		248	84	2,527	(8)	2,519
Total operating expenses	12,669		4,615	1,273	18,557	(53)	18,504
Operating income (loss)	1,084		(434)	(1,273)	(623)	(8)	(615)
Interest income	14		7	42	63		63
Interest expense	(281)	_		(1,165)	(1,446)	_	(1,446)
Locs on facility cubleace	(201)		(240)	(1,100)	(240)		(240)

(159)

(156)

(582)

502

30

50,347

20,431

(249)

(242)

(676)

6,955

(249)

(791)

(2,360)

(2,983)

66,559

30

(791)

378

(1,536)

(2,809)

9,257

(249)

(159)

(791)

222

(2,360)

(2,975)

66,559

21,394

30

8

			Nine	months ended Sep	ot. 30, 2003		
	EFT Processing	Prepaid Processing	Software Solutions	Corporate Services	Total Segments	Eliminations	Consolidated
Total revenues	\$ 37,129	\$ 86,096	\$ 11,403	\$ —	\$ 134,628	\$ (326)	\$ 134,302
Direct operating cost	16,601	69,668	715		86,984	(122)	86,862
Salaries and benefits	9,552	4,261	6,868	1,951	22,632	1	22,633
Selling, general and administrative	1,100	2,490	2,005	2,834	8,429	(166)	8,263
Depreciation and amortization	5,554	2,480	837	63	8,934	(15)	8,919
Total operating expenses	32,807	78,899	10,425	4,848	126,979	(302)	126,677
Operating income (loss)	4,322	7,197	978	(4,848)	7,649	(24)	7,625
Operating mediae (1888)							
Interest income	20	748	4	154	926	_	926
Interest expense	(502)	(8)	_	(4,848)	(5,358)	_	(5,358)
Gain on sale of U.K. subsidiary	_	_	_	18,001	18,001	_	18,001
Income from unconsolidated investee companies	(1)	461	_	(80)	380	_	380
Foreign exchange gain (loss), net				(5,231)	(5,231)	38	(5,193)
Total other (expense) income	(483)	1,201	4	7,996	8,718	38	8,756
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest	\$ 3,839	\$ 8,398	\$ 982	\$ 3,148	\$ 16,367	\$ 14	\$ 16,381
Segment assets as of September 30, 2003 Fixed assets as of September 30, 2003	\$ 42,527	\$ 161,016	\$ 6,693	\$ 8,203	\$ 218,439	\$ —	\$ 218,439
	Nine months ended Sept. 30, 2002						
	EFT Processing	Prepaid Processing	Software Solutions	Corporate Services	Total Segments	Eliminations	Consolidated
Total revenues	\$ 38,864	\$ <u> </u>	\$ 13,850	\$ <u> </u>	\$ 52,714	\$ (260)	\$ 52,454
Direct operating cost	20,935		732		21,667	(70)	21,597
Salaries and benefits	8,105	_	9,117	1,386	18,608	_	18,608
Selling, general and administrative	249	_	2,432	2,244	4,925	(90)	4,835
Depreciation and amortization	6,209		731	40	6,980	(50)	6,930
Total operating expenses	35,498		13,012	3,670	52,180	(210)	51,970
Operating income (local)	3,366		838	(2,670)	534	(50)	484
Operating income (loss)	3,366		838	(3,670)	534	(50)	484
Interest income	39	_	137	51	227	_	227
Interest expense	(848)			(3,959)	(4,807)	_	(4,807)
Loss on facility sublease	· —	_	(249)	· —	(249)	_	(249)
Equity in losses from investee companies	(159)	_	` —′	_	(159)	_	(159)
Loss on early retirement of debt	_	_	_	(955)	(955)	_	(955)
Foreign exchange loss, net	1,089			(4,268)	(3,179)		(3,179)
Total other (expense) income	121		(112)	(9,131)	(9,122)		(9,122)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest	\$ 3,487	s —	\$ 726	\$ (12.801)	\$ (8,588)	\$ (50)	\$ (8,638)

Total revenues for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 and September 30, 2002, and long-lived assets as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002 for the Company, summarized by geographical location, are as follows (unaudited, in thousands):

50,347 20,431 6,955 854

Minority interest

Segment assets as of December 31, 2002 Fixed assets as of December 31, 2002

	For the nine	Revenues For the nine month ended Sept. 30,		lived Assets	
	2003	2002	As of Sept.30, 2003	As of Dec. 31, 2002	
United States	\$ 11,546	\$13,850	\$ 736	\$ 854	
Germany	10,102	8,546	2,354	2,741	
Poland	12,077	9,212	6,607	8,223	
Hungary	5,406	5,434	3,834	6,703	
U.K.	62,526	10,337	1,150	_	
Australia	24,864	_	568	_	
Czech Republic	2,993	1,874	1,943	2,014	
Other	4,788	3,201	1,022	859	
					
Total	\$134,302	\$52,454	\$ 18,214	\$ 21,394	

Total revenues are attributed to countries based on location of customer for the EFT Processing and Prepaid Processing segments. All revenues generated by Software Solutions Segment activities are attributed to the United States. Long-lived assets consist of property, plant, and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation.

NOTE 7— SALE OF HUNGARIAN ATM NETWORK

On September 12, 2003, the Company completed the sale of its 272 Hungarian ATMs. The sale was made to a large financial institution in Hungary for consideration of approximately \$2.7 million. The carrying value of the network and expected expenses of sale, including incentive compensation, totaled approximately \$1.9 million. The sale resulted in pretax gain of approximately \$0.8 million. In connection with the sale, the Company entered into a long-term outsourcing agreement and cash sponsorship arrangement with the purchaser under terms the Company believes are no less favorable than other similar outsourcing and cash sponsorship agreements the Company is a party to. Of the total proceeds, approximately \$1.8 million was received at closing. The balance of approximately \$0.9 million is due no later than 180 days from closing. Management has estimated the fair value of all aspects of the transaction, including the outsourcing and cash sponsorship agreements, and considered this in the determination of the calculation of the gain on sale of this ATM network.

NOTE 8—INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expense on income from continuing operations was \$0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003, and \$2.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, representing an effective tax rate of 34.1% and 14.1% for each period, respectively. The effective tax rate of 34.1% for the third quarter of 2003 was due to the existence of taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions partially offset by the recognition of a tax benefit resulting from a European Court of Justice decision in a Netherlands tax case that impacts the Company's Netherlands-based holding company. Losses incurred in certain other tax jurisdictions did not meet the requirements of SFAS 109 "Accounting for Income Tax" for tax benefit recognition. The effective tax rate of 14.1% for the ninemonth period ended September 30, 2003, was lower than the quarterly effective tax rate, primarily due to the non-taxable gain on the sale of the U.K. ATM network in the first quarter 2003.

NOTE 9—CREDIT FACILITIES

As of September 30, 2003, banks have issued standby letters of credit on the Company's behalf amounting to \$4.0 million. These letters of credit are fully secured by cash deposits held by the respective issuing banks. This cash is classified as restricted cash as of September 30, 2003.

The Company has lines of credit totaling \$1.3 million to meet cash requirements for the startup of our India market. The lines of credit are fully collateralized by a portion of those letters of credit described above.

NOTE 10—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In February 2003, the Company paid approximately \$74.8 million to the former shareholders of e-pay. The amount paid to the shareholders consisted of approximately \$30.0 million in cash at closing, \$18.0 million through issuance at closing of 2,497,504 shares of Euronet common stock, and the remaining \$26.9 million in deferred cash consideration or promissory notes executed at closing with 24 month maturity dates bearing interest rates ranging from 6% to 8%. Ten of these former shareholders are now employees and/or officers of Euronet. Paul Althasen, a former shareholder of e-pay and current member of Euronet's Board of Directors, received \$15.4 million in total consideration consisting of cash, common stock, and notes payable for his ownership in e-pay. Subsequent to September 30, 2003, the remaining \$4.0 million of the original \$8.5 million e-pay acquisition deferred cash consideration was paid in full.

For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003, the Company recorded \$0.2 million in revenue related to EuroPlanet a.d. ("EuroPlanet"); a 36% owned joint venture operating ATMs in the Federal Republic of Serbia. EuroPlanet was incorporated in the Federal Republic of Serbia, and 36% of the shares are owned by our wholly owned subsidiary EFT Services Holdings BV. EuroPlanet was formed to own and/or operate and manage ATM machines and point of sale terminals both for the joint venture's own account and the account of customer banks. The Company accounts for EuroPlanet using the equity method of accounting.

NOTE 11—SIGNIFICANT SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT

In January 2002, the Company entered into a significant software license agreement (the "License Agreement"), whereby the Company granted ALLTEL Information Systems (currently known as Fidelity National Financial, Inc. ("FNF")) a nonexclusive license to use, distribute and develop versions 1.5 and 2.2 of our GoldNet ATM Network Processing Software ("GoldNet Software"). Under the terms of the License Agreement, FNF agreed to pay license, professional services and maintenance fees of \$5.0 million. In January 2002, 50% of the license fees were received, with remaining payments of 40% upon acceptance of the software (received in July 2002), and 10% twelve months from the date of the agreement (received in January 2003). The License Agreement does not restrict the ability of Euronet USA to continue to sell its GoldNet Software, except that Euronet USA may not sell to former DASH

customers or new FNF network processing customers. Revenue from the license fee and related services will be recognized under the percentage of completion contract accounting method. The Company recognized \$0.2 million in revenues related to the License Agreement during the three months ended September 30, 2003, and \$0.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The Company recognized \$0.6 million in revenues related to the License Agreement during the three months ended September 30, 2002, and \$3.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2002. Approximately \$0.2 million of revenues remain to be earned and recognized related to the License Agreement.

NOTE 12—RESTRICTED CASH

As of September 30, 2003, the Company has \$43.4 million of restricted cash, of which \$38.1 million is related to the administration of customer collection and vendor remittance activities in the Prepaid Processing Segment. The Company is responsible for the collection of cash receipts from the retailer for subsequent remittance to the telecommunication provider. Cash is collected and held in designated trust accounts classified as restricted cash balances that are not available for operating business activities. The remaining \$5.3 million is held as security with respect to cash provided by banks participating in the Company's ATM network or standby letters of credit.

NOTE 13—RECLASSIFICATION

Beginning in January 2003, the Company changed its business segment reporting to better align its financial reporting with its business operations and reflect the acquisition of e-pay. In accordance with SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related information" (SFAS 131), all prior segment information has conformed to this new financial reporting presentation.

All operating amounts, ATM counts, transaction numbers and statistics reported in this filing exclude 2002 discontinued operations.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Euronet Worldwide, Inc. is a leading provider of secure electronic financial transaction solutions. We provide financial payment middleware, financial network gateways, outsourcing, and consulting services to financial institutions, retailers and mobile phone operators.

Sianificant Events

During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we entered into four transactions that are further described in the discussion and analysis that follows.

First, in January 2003, we sold our U.K. ATM network for \$29.4 million and simultaneously signed an ATM outsourcing agreement with the buyer. Since then, we have operated the ATMs in that network under a five-year outsourcing agreement. This transaction is discussed more fully in the EFT Processing Segment discussion below and in Note 5 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Second, in February 2003, we acquired e-pay Ltd., an electronic payments processor of prepaid mobile phone airtime "top-up" services in the U.K and Australia. e-pay has agreements with mobile operators in those markets under which it supports the distribution of airtime to their subscribers through point-of-sale (POS) terminals in retail outlets. This transaction is discussed more fully in the Prepaid Processing Segment discussion below and in Note 4 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Third, on September 22, 2003, we purchased all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Austin International Investments and Marketing, Inc. (AIM), a Kansas corporation. AIM is a U.S. based electronic "top up" company, selling prepaid services via point of sale terminals in 36 states on approximately 1,900 POS terminals. This transaction is discussed more fully in the Prepaid Processing Segment discussion and in Note 4 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements. Generally, this business will operate as part of the U.S.-based prepaid service branded as PaySpot.

Fourth, in September 2003, we sold our 272 Hungarian ATMs for approximately \$2.7 million to a large financial institution in Hungary, and simultaneously entered into a multi-year outsourcing agreement and cash sponsorship arrangement with the buyer. We

will continue to operate that ATM network through the outsourcing agreement. This transaction is discussed more fully in the EFT Processing Segment and in Note 7 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Business Summary

We process transactions for a network of 3,254 automated teller machines (ATMs) that we own or operate for others in Europe and India. We operate a network of POS terminals providing electronic processing of prepaid mobile phone airtime ("top-up") services in the U.K, Australia, New Zealand, Ireland, Poland and the U.S. Through our software subsidiary, Euronet USA, Inc. ("Euronet USA"), we offer a suite of integrated electronic fund transfer (EFT) software solutions for electronic payment and transaction delivery systems. Our principal customers are banks, mobile phone operators and retailers that require electronic financial transaction processing services. We provide comprehensive electronic payment solutions consisting of ATM network participation, outsourced ATM management solutions, electronic recharge services (for prepaid mobile airtime) and integrated EFT software solutions. Our solutions are used in more than 60 countries around the world. As of September 30, 2003, we had ten offices in Europe, two in the United States and one each in India, Indonesia, Egypt, and Australia.

As of September 30, 2003, we operated in three principal business segments:

- The EFT Processing Segment, which includes our proprietary ATM network and outsourced management of ATMs for banks of financial institutions and includes various new processing services we provide for these entities and mobile phone companies through our network of owned and managed ATMs, such as mobile phone recharge services at the ATM.
- The Prepaid Processing Segment, consisting of e-pay and PaySpot, which provides electronic top-up transaction services at retail stores for mobile and other telecommunication operators through POS terminals.
- The Software Solutions Segment, which provides transaction processing software solutions to banks that enable them to operate ATMs and POS
 terminals and processes financial transactions from those devices, telephones, mobile devices and the Internet.

We also operate a "Corporate Services Segment" that provides our three business segments with corporate and other administrative services that are not directly identifiable with them. The accounting policies of each segment are the same as those referenced in the summary of significant accounting policies. We evaluate performance of our segments based on income or loss from continuing operations before income taxes, foreign exchange gain (loss), and minority interest, excluding nonrecurring gains and losses.

SEGMENT SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

	Three months ended Sept. 30,				
Rev	Revenues		ncome (Loss)		
2003	2002	2003	2002		
\$ 12,925	\$13,753	\$ 2,297	\$ 1,084		
36,532	_	2,957	_		
3,659	4,181	364	(434)		
		(1,927)	(1,273)		
53,116	17,934	3,691	(623)		
(55)	(45)	(1)	8		
\$ 53,061	\$17,889	\$ 3,690	\$ (615)		

		Nine months ended Sept. 30,				
	Reve	Revenues		ncome (Loss)		
	2003	2002	2003	2002		
g	\$ 37,129	\$38,864	\$ 4,322	\$ 3,366		
	86,096	_	7,197	_		
	11,403	13,850	978	838		
	-	_	(4,848)	(3,670)		
	134,628	52,714	7,649	534		
	(326)	(260)	(22)	(50)		
						
	\$ 134,302	\$52,454	\$ 7,627	\$ 484		

Recurring and Non-Recurring Items

The following is a summary of certain significant recurring and non-recurring items and a reference to their location in this Management Discussion. This summary is provided to assist the reader in locating the detailed discussion on these matters.

Description of Item	Management Discussion Page Reference
Gain on sale of U.K. ATM network	Page 18 and 28
Gain on sale of Hungary ATMs	Page 21
Non-recurring contract termination fee	Page 19
Foreign exchange loss/gain	Page 28
Income tax expense/benefit	Page 28
Interest expense	Page 28

COMPARISON OF OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 AND THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2003

EFT PROCESSING SEGMENT

	Three months	Pro fo	Pro forma: Three months ended Sept. 30, 2002					
	ended Sept. 30, 2003 Entire Segment	Entire Segment as Reported	Effects of U.K. Transaction	Adjusted for U.K. Processing				
EFT Processing (unaudited, in thousands)								
Total revenues	\$ 12,925	\$ 13,753	\$ (3,438)	\$ 10,315				
								
Direct operating cost	4,932	7,622	(2,519)	5,103				
Salaries and benefits	3,463	2,914	(409)	2,505				
Selling, general and administrative	399	(62)	125	63				
Depreciation and amortization	1,834	2,195	(520)	1,675				
Total operating expenses	10,628	12,669	(3,323)	9,346				
								
Operating income	\$ 2,297	\$ 1,084	\$ (115)	\$ 969				

	Nine months	Pro f	Pro forma: Nine months ended Sept. 30, 2002					
	ended Sept. 30, 2003 Entire Segment	Entire Segment as Reported	U.K. Processing	Adjusted for U.K. Processing				
EFT Processing (unaudited, in thousands)			·					
Total revenues	\$ 37,129	\$ 38,864	\$ (9,054)	\$ 29,810				
Direct operating cost	16,601	20,935	(6,425)	14,510				
Salaries and benefits	9,552	8,105	(1,202)	6,903				
Selling, general and administrative	1,100	249	17	266				
Depreciation and amortization	5,554	6,209	(1,341)	4,868				
-								
Total operating expenses	32,807	35,498	(8,951)	26,547				
Operating income	\$ 4,322	\$ 3,366	\$ (103)	\$ 3,263				

Sale of U.K. ATM Network

In January 2003, we sold our U.K. ATM network and simultaneously signed an ATM outsourcing agreement with the buyer of the network. We now operate the ATMs in that network under a five-year outsourcing agreement. We sold our U.K subsidiary, and with this transaction, all employees working in that subsidiary were transferred to the buyer. The results of operations of the U.K. ATM network operations continue to be included in continuing operations due to the ongoing revenues generated by the outsourcing agreement. This transaction is more fully described in Note 5 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements. See the discussion below where the effects of this transaction on revenues and operating income are more fully described.

In order to provide a more meaningful comparison of the results for the three- and nine-month periods ended September 2003 compared to the same periods for 2002, we have provided a "Pro forma" schedule above that adjusts the 2002 income and expense to exclude the U.K. ATM network business and include the benefits of the outsourcing agreement as if it were in effect for those periods. This presentation is consistent with our presentation in the 8-K filing we made on January 17, 2003 relating to the sale of the U.K. ATM network.

Revenues

Total segment revenues decreased 6% or \$0.9 million to \$12.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$13.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Total segment revenues decreased 4% or \$1.8 million to \$37.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$38.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

As shown in the schedule above, if 2002 U.K. ATM network revenues are excluded and the related outsourcing revenues are included in the comparative amounts due to the sale of the U.K. ATM network in January 2003, revenues increased 25% for the three months

ended September 30, 2003 and 25% for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 over the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002.

Included in revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 are approximately \$1.0 million in one-time revenues, including a contract termination fee of approximately \$0.8 million for a contract that was terminated before implementation. Increases in ATMs under management and in transactions are the primary reasons for the increase in revenues as further quantified below. Certain new ATM driving contracts and network participation agreements were implemented in the final nine months of 2002 that contributed to transaction growth.

We operated 2,951 ATMs as of September 30, 2002 and processed 56.5 million transactions for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. We increased the number of ATMs we operated by 303 ATMs, or 10%, from September 30, 2002 to a total of 3,254 ATMs as of September 30, 2003. On September 30, 2003, we owned 26% of these ATMs (excluding those leased by us in connection with outsourcing agreements), while the remaining 74% were operated under management outsourcing agreements. Transactions on machines owned or operated by us totaled 81.5 million transactions for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, an increase of 24.0 million, or 44% over the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The increase in transaction growth was greater than the increase in ATM growth and revenue growth. This was the result of an increase in the number of ATMs that we operate under ATM management outsourcing agreements relative to ATMs we own during this period together with increasing the number of ATM-based prepaid telecommunication recharge transactions. The revenues generated from ATM management agreements often have a substantial monthly recurring fee as compared to a per transaction fee for our owned ATMs. This structure fee generated both fixed and variable revenue components. As a result, transactions on these machines increased faster than the revenues.

Of total segment revenue, approximately 56% was from ATMs we owned (excluding those leased by us in connection with outsourcing agreements) for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 60% for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 as adjusted for the sale of the U.K. ATM network and related outsourcing agreement. We believe our strategy to shift from a largely proprietary, Euronet-owned ATM network to a more balanced mix between proprietary ATMs and ATMs operated under outsourcing agreements will provide higher marginal returns on investments. Customer-owned ATMs operated under service agreements require a nominal up-front capital investment because we do not purchase the ATMs. Additionally, in many instances operating costs are the responsibility of the owner and, therefore, recurring operating expenses per ATM are lower.

We generally charge fees for four types of ATM transactions that are processed on our ATMs:

- · cash withdrawals
- balance inquiries
- · transactions not completed because the relevant card issuer does not give authorization
- prepaid telecommunication recharges

Transaction fees for cash withdrawals vary from market to market but generally range from \$0.60 to \$2.70 per transaction. Transaction fees for the other three types of transactions are generally substantially less. We include in EFT Processing Segment revenues transaction fees payable under the electronic recharge solutions that we distribute through our ATMs. Fees for recharge transactions vary substantially from market to market and are based on the specific prepaid solution and the denomination of prepaid usage purchased. Generally, transaction fees vary from \$0.40 to \$1.80 per prepaid mobile recharge purchase and are shared with the financial institution and the mobile operator. Any or all of these fees may come under pricing pressure in the future.

Operating Expenses

Total segment operating expenses decreased 16%, or \$2.1 million to \$10.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$12.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Total segment operating expenses decreased 8%, or \$2.7 million to \$32.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$35.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

As shown in the schedule above, if the 2002 U.K. ATM operating expenses are excluded from the comparative figures due to the sale of the U.K. ATM network in January 2003, operating expenses increased 14% for the three months ended September 30, 2003 over the three months ended September 30, 2002 and 24% for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 over the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

The increase in operating expenses is primarily the result of additional expense to support increases in transactions and ATMs. Additionally, salaries increased to support our operational growth during the period and market development costs in Asia. Costs in Asia were approximately \$0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and \$1.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003.

Direct operating costs in the EFT Processing Segment include the costs of goods and services related to processing revenues and consist primarily of six categories shown in the table below.

If the 2002 U.K. ATM direct operating costs are excluded from the comparative amounts due to the sale of the U.K. ATM network, direct operating costs decreased by 3% for the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2003 and increased by 14% compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

The increased operating expenses are primarily due to the increased number of ATMs and transactions, as mentioned in the revenue discussion above. Allocations within the Euronet operating companies are made to charge the ATM network operations for transaction switching fees and bank connection fees incurred by our central processing center in Budapest. After excluding U.K. processing and monitoring expenses, these fees increased \$0.3 million to \$1.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 and increased by \$0.6 million to \$3.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

The components of direct operating costs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and September 30, 2002 were:

	Three months ended Sept. 30,	Profo	rma: Three months ended S	ept. 30,
EFT Processing	2003	2002	2002	2002
(unaudited, in thousands)	Entire Segment	Entire Segment as Reported	U.K. Processing	Adjusted without U.K. Processing
ATM communication	\$ 789	\$ 1,057	\$ 292	\$ 765
ATM cash filling and interest on network cash	976	1,877	678	1,199
ATM maintenance	895	1,269	355	914
ATM site rental	694	1,005	398	607
ATM installation	195	193	90	103
Transaction processing and ATM monitoring	1,726	1,697	315	1,382
All other	(343)	524	391	133
Total direct operating costs	\$ 4,932	\$ 7,622	\$ 2,519	\$ 5,103
	Nine months ended Sept. 30,	Profe	orma: Nine months ended So	ept. 30,
EFT Processing	2003	2002	2002	2002
(unaudited, in thousands)	Entire Segment	Entire Segment	U.K. Processing	Adjusted without U.K. Processing
ATM communication	\$ 2,389	\$ 3,013	\$ 767	\$ 2,246
ATM cash filling and interest on network cash	3,476	5,340	1,880	3,460
ATM maintenance	2,814	3,264	835	2,429
ATM site rental	2,095	2,664	963	1,701
ATM installation	554	487	213	274
Transaction processing and ATM monitoring	4,672	4,739	858	3,881
All other	601	1,428	909	519
Total direct operating costs	\$ 16,601	\$ 20,935	\$ 6,425	\$ 14,510

The following discussion and analysis again compares certain direct operating costs, salaries, selling, general and administrative costs as well as depreciation costs and performance ratios for 2003 to 2002 excluding the U.K. processing business expenses. We sold the U.K. ATM network in January 2003 and thus there are no comparable expenses in the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003. We believe this presentation provides a more comparable cost structure for analysis of the changes between the periods.

Direct operating costs decreased from 52% of revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2002 to 38% of revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2003, and decreased from 49% for the nine month periods ending September 30, 2002 to 45% of revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Excluding \$0.2 million and \$0.8 million in one-time contract termination fees and other one-time revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, and excluding a gain of \$1.0 million (\$0.8 million net of related incentive payments reported in salaries and benefits) from the sale of ATMs that we own in Hungary, direct operating costs were 46% of this segment's revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 49% for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Also excluding one-time fees and gains on a per-ATM basis, the direct operating costs rose 5% from \$1,729 per ATM for the three months ended September 30, 2002 to \$1,823 per ATM for the three months ended September 30, 2003, and rose 10% from \$4,917 per ATM for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 to \$5,409 per ATM for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. This increase is primarily due to the increased number of transactions for the three- and nine-month periods ended September 2003 as compared to the same periods in 2002. See Note 7 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements for more information. The rate of increase in direct operating costs is less than the rate of increase in transactions due to the fact that certain costs are fixed or under contract as more fully described below.

Costs per transaction have decreased because of increasing transaction volumes at existing sites with a large fixed direct operating cost component at these sites. On a per-transaction basis, direct operating costs fell 30% from \$0.23 per transaction for the three months ended September 30, 2002 to \$0.16 per transaction for the three months ended September 30, 2003. Direct operating costs fell 19% from \$0.25 per transaction for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 to \$0.20 per transaction for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Increasing transaction volumes on existing sites that have fixed direct operating expenses decreases our costs per ATM and per transaction. In addition, the number of ATMs that we operate under ATM management agreements increased, as compared to ATMs we own, including those in the U.K. ATM network that were shifted from owned to outsourced ATMs. These ATMs generally have lower direct operating expenses (telecommunications, cash delivery, security, maintenance and site rental) because, depending on the customer, our ATM management agreements shift to the customer some expenses required to operate the ATM. For example, in the U.K. ATM network approximately \$6.4 million in direct operating expenses were in the nine months ended September 30, 2002 that were no longer incurred in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 as a result of the sale of the U.K. business and the simultaneous signing of the ATM outsourcing agreement.

Segment salaries and benefits were \$3.5 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2003 and \$2.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Segment salaries and benefits were \$9.6 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003 and \$6.9 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2002. Segment salaries and benefits increased 38% for the three months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2002 and increased 38% for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2002 due to an increase of staff levels in our Asian markets as well as certain incentive compensation related to recent contracts and expected achievement of certain performance objectives in 2003 that were not achieved in 2002. As a percentage of this segment's revenue, salaries and benefits increased to 27% for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from 25% for the three months ended September 30, 2002 and also increased to 26% for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from 24% for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. Excluding one-time expenses of \$0.2 million for bonuses for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and excluding one time revenues and the one time expenses of \$1.0 million and \$0.2 million respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, segment salary and benefits for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 were 28% of this segment's revenue and for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 were 26% of segment revenue.

Selling, general and administrative costs of the EFT Processing Segment increased by \$0.3 million to \$0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Selling, general and administrative costs increased by \$0.8 million to \$1.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. This increase is largely the result of market development expenses in our Asian business.

Depreciation and amortization increased 9% by \$0.1 million to \$1.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.7 million the three months ended September 30, 2002 and increased 14% by \$0.7 million to \$5.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$4.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. This change is due to the increase in depreciation of the new computer and system facilities at our European Operations Center in Budapest, which was placed in service in third quarter 2002, offset by a decrease in depreciation of ATMs as a result of certain machines reaching the end of their depreciation lives. Finally, the shift from owned to outsourced ATMs will continue to result in lower depreciation levels.

Operating Income

The EFT Processing Segment improved operating income by \$1.3 million to \$2.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.1 million (including the U.K. ATM network business) for the three months ended September 30, 2002. The EFT Processing Segment improved operating income by \$0.9 million to \$4.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$3.4 million (including the U.K. ATM network business) for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

As shown in the schedule above, if the 2002 U.K. ATM operating income and expenses are excluded from the comparative figures due to the sale of the U.K. ATM network in January 2003, operating income improved by \$1.3 million to \$2.3 million for the three

months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to \$1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002 and operating income improved by \$1.0 million to \$4.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to \$3.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

These increases in operating income for the three- and nine-month periods are due to the factors mentioned in the discussion and analysis above, with the following two specific items contributing significantly to the increases.

- \$0.8 million from the sale of 272 Hungarian ATMs during the three months ended September 30, 2003
- \$0.8 million in contract termination fees during the three months ended March 31, 2003.

We are pursuing new business opportunities in Asia. Operating expenses are expected to exceed revenues by approximately \$1.1 million over the next 12 to 15 months as we commence and expand operations in Asia. Capital expenditures over the same period are expected to be approximately \$0.8 million related to these operations.

PREPAID PROCESSING SEGMENT

Purchase of e-pay

In February 2003, we purchased 100% of the share capital of e-pay, an electronic payments processor of prepaid mobile phone airtime "top-up" services in the U.K. and Australia. This transaction is more fully described in Note 4 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Purchase of AIM

On September 22, 2003 we purchased all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of AIM, a U.S.-based electronic "top up" company, selling prepaid services via point of sale terminals in 36 states on approximately 1,900 POS terminals. This transaction is discussed more fully in the Prepaid Processing Segment discussion and in Note 4 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements. Generally, this business will operate as part of the U.S.-based prepaid service branded as PaySpot.

Business Overview

The business of Prepaid Processing is the distribution of prepaid mobile phone minutes to consumers through a network of point of sale (POS) terminals and direct connections to the electronic payment systems of retailers. We enter into agreements with mobile phone operators in certain geographical markets and connect directly to the mobile phone operators' back office systems. In others markets (such as the U.S.), we receive mobile phone time through the electronic delivery by mobile operators or the purchase from other sources of phone time through PIN numbers that release airtime to the mobile phone of the customers concerned. We then distribute the mobile phone time through an electronic network either through a direct credit from the mobile operator to the mobile phone, or sales of PINs. The business has grown rapidly over the past year as new retailers have been added and prepaid airtime has switched from physical vouchers to distribution by electronic means.

Our Prepaid Processing Segment consists of e-pay operations in the U.K., Australia, New Zealand and Ireland, together with e-pay's joint venture in Malaysia, which serves the Malaysian and Indonesian markets. This segment also includes operations in Poland managed by our subsidiary there and PaySpot, Inc. (PaySpot) a newly formed U.S.-based prepaid top-up company, which recently acquired AIM. Because the AIM acquisition was completed on September 22, 2003, minimal income and expenses for AIM or the U.S. market are included in management's discussion and the analysis of results below.

We maintain contractual relationships with the retailers or networks that operate the POS terminals through which we distribute PINs. Our agreements with major retailers generally are multi-year agreements, whereas agreements with small retailers are terminable on three months notice. In Europe, we generally provide the POS terminals free of charge and incur the expense of installing those terminals in the retail outlets. In the U.S., the retailers generally pay for the POS terminals. In the U.S., we are attempting to achieve leverage in expansion of our network by contracting with distributors or networks of POS or ATM terminals (generally referred to as Independent Sales Organizations or ISO), who are paid a commission for delivering us contracts with retailers in their networks to distribute PINs on their terminals. As a result of our agreements with ISOs in the U.S., our relationships with the retailers are sometime indirect, through the distributor or ISO.

We establish an electronic connection with the POS terminals and maintain systems that monitor transaction levels at each terminal. As sales to customers of mobile phone time are completed, the customer pays the retailer and the retailer becomes obligated to make

settlement of the principal amount of the phone time sold. At e-pay, these amounts are deposited on accounts that are held in trust for the mobile operators. In the U.S., retailer accounts are directly debited on a contractually defined basis. No trust arrangements are required in the U.S. with respect to amounts settled to us. We maintain systems that permit us to monitor the payment practices of each retailer.

The Prepaid Processing segment now supports top-up transactions at approximately 75,000 points of sale in 29,000 locations across eight countries.

The following table presents the results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and the eight months ended September 30, 2003 as included in our consolidated results of operations (unaudited, in thousands):

	Three months ended Sept. 30, 2003	Eight months ended Sept. 30, 2003
Total revenues	\$ 36,532	\$ 86,096
Direct operating cost	29,583	69,668
Salaries and benefits	1,954	4,261
Selling, general and administrative	1,116	2,490
Depreciation and amortization	922	2,480
Total operating expenses	33,575	78,899
Operating income	\$ 2,957	\$ 7,197

The following table presents the pro forma condensed results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2002 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and September 30, 2002 for the separate e-pay consolidated group, including the effect of amortization of amortizable intangible assets acquired (unaudited, in thousands):

	Three months ended Sept. 30,	ended ended	
	2002	2003	2002
Total revenues	\$ 15,323	\$95,496	\$32,754
Total operating expenses	14,102	87,350	31,801
Operating income (loss)	\$ 1,221	\$ 8,146	\$ 953

Revenues

The significant growth in the pro forma revenue and operating income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 over September 30, 2002 is the result of the ramp-up of e-pay as a business during its development stage. During the period ended September 30, 2002, e-pay was still establishing contractual relationships with many large and small retailers to distribute mobile "top-up" services through POS terminals. Revenues have grown rapidly over the past year as the level of business at the retailers concerned has ramped up to full realization. Growth in the business is also attributed to the conversion of mobile operators from prepaid "top-up" using scratch card solutions to electronic processing solutions such as those provided by e-pay. Transactions processed for the three months ended September 30, 2003 were 26.3 million and \$61.2 million for the eight months ended September 30, 2003 (the period included in our consolidated operating results for the nine months ended September 30, 2003). We do not expect these growth rate levels to continue.

Revenue is recognized based on commissions received from mobile and other telecommunication operators for the distribution and processing of prepaid mobile airtime and other telecommunication products. Due to certain provisions of the mobile phone operator agreements, mobile phone operators have the ability to reduce the overall commission paid to e-pay on each top-up transaction. However, by virtue of our contracts with retailers, not all of these reductions are absorbed by e-pay. Therefore, when mobile phone operators reduce overall commissions, the effect is to reduce revenues with only a small impact on operating income. In Australia certain retailers negotiate directly with the mobile phone operators for their own commission rates. e-pay's maintenance of its agreements with mobile operators is important to the success of its business, because these agreements permit e-pay to distribute "top-up" to the mobile operators' customers.

Approximately 99% of revenue is attributed to the processing of prepaid mobile airtime, and 1% is attributed to other telecommunications products. In the U.S., with the AIM acquisition, we have begun distributing small amounts of long distance phone time for use on

landlines, and we expect to continue to do so. As other telecommunications and prepaid products are introduced, this mix is expected to gradually change.

Total segment revenue increased by 13% or \$4.3 million to \$36.5 million for the three months ended September 2003 from \$32.2 million for the three-month period ended June 30, 2003. We processed 26.3 million transactions within the U.K., Ireland, Australia, New Zealand and Polish markets, an increase of 3.5 million transactions or 15% compared to the three-month period ended June 30, 2003. Higher transaction volumes increased revenue by \$4.6 million compared to the prior three-month period ended June 30, 2003. Revenue per transaction decreased as certain mobile phone operators reduced commission rates in the U.K. market, which resulted in a revenue decrease of approximately \$0.4 million compared to the three-month period ended June 30, 2003. Segment revenue increased by \$21 million or 140% compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2002. This increase is primarily due to increased transaction volume. Transaction volume increased by 15.3 million or 139% from 11 million transactions in this period.

Operating Expenses

Direct operating expenses in the Prepaid Processing Segment include the commissions we pay to retail merchants for the distribution and sale of prepaid mobile airtime and other telecommunication products. Communication and paper expenses required to operate e-pay terminals are also included. These expenditures vary directly with processed transactions.

Direct operating expenses increased by \$3.5 million to \$29.6 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$26.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003. Higher transaction volumes increased costs by \$3.8 million. A reduction in commissions and certain other transaction costs decreased costs by \$0.4 million.

Direct operating expenses increased \$17.7 million from \$11.9 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2002. The increase in direct operating costs compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2002 is primarily due to the substantial increase in transaction volumes. Costs per transaction have increased slightly as a result of certain new contracts with large retail merchants who have contributed to transaction growth but at a higher commission cost to e-pay.

Segment salaries and benefits increased by \$0.5 million to \$2.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to \$1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003, primarily due to incentive awards based on expected achievement of certain 2003 performance objectives. Additionally, new hires necessary to staff expansion into new markets in Poland and the U.S. contributed \$0.2 million to the increase. Finally, customer service and sales staff additions necessary to manage the business growth have contributed to the increase. This increase is \$0.9 million over the three months ended September 30, 2002 of \$1.1 million.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by \$0.1 million to \$1.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003. This increase is primarily due to additional new market development expenses, during the three months ended September 30, 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased \$0.5 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2002, due to various overhead and professional fee increases to support substantial business growth during this period.

Depreciation and amortization remained constant at \$0.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2003 and increased by \$0.3 million over \$0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. This increase compared to the three months ended September 30, 2003 is due to a \$0.5 million expense for the amortization of assigned intangible assets related to the acquisition of e-pay offset by a \$0.2 million decrease due to existing terminals reaching the end of their depreciation lives.

Operating Income

Operating income in the Prepaid Processing Segment increased by \$0.3 million to \$3.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$2.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003. This represents an increase of \$1.8 million over "pro forma" operating income of \$1.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Operating income was \$7.2 million for the eight-month period included in the results for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. On a "pro forma" basis, operating income was \$8.1 million for the full nine-month period ended September 30, 2003. This represents an increase of \$7.1 million over operating income of \$1.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. During the nine months ended September 30, 2002, e-pay was still establishing contractual relationships with many large and small retail stores, and the switch from physical vouchers to distribution via electronic networks was still in its early stages.

Transaction growth in the U.K. is expected to slow in the following six to twelve months as a result of our current association with nearly all of the larger retail merchants and as the conversion to electronic top-up from physical vouchers begins to slow.

SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS SEGMENT

		Three months ended Sept. 30,		Nine months ended Sept. 30,	
Software Solutions	2003	2002	2003	2002	
(unaudited, in thousands)					
Total revenues	\$3,659	\$4,181	\$11,403	\$13,850	
		-			
Direct operating cost	207	181	715	732	
Salaries and benefits	2,152	3,058	6,868	9,117	
Selling, general and administrative	640	1,128	2,005	2,432	
Depreciation and amortization	296	248	837	731	
Total operating expenses	3,295	4,615	10,425	13,012	
Operating income (loss)	\$ 364	\$ (434)	\$ 978	\$ 838	

Revenues

Software revenues are grouped into four broad categories as shown in the table below.

Software license fees are the initial fees we charge to license our proprietary application software to customers. We charge professional service fees for providing customization, installation and consulting services to our customers. Software maintenance fees are the ongoing fees we charge for maintenance of our customers' software products. Hardware sales revenues are derived from the sale of computer products.

The components of Software Solutions revenue for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 were (unaudited, in thousands):

Software Solutions		Three months ended Sept. 30,		Nine months ended Sept. 30,	
Software Softmons		2002	2003	2002	
(unaudited, in thousands)					
Software license fees	\$1,012	\$1,001	\$ 2,420	\$ 5,516	
Professional service fees	1,093	1,522	4,233	3,568	
Maintenance fees	1,483	1,630	4,427	4,221	
Hardware sales	71	28	323	545	
Total	\$ 3,659	\$4,181	\$11,403	\$13,850	

Total software revenues decreased \$0.5 million from \$4.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002 to \$3.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and decreased \$2.4 million from \$13.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 to \$11.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. This decrease is generally in line with expectations for this segment and, excluding the Fidelity National Financial (FNF) software license fees in 2002, represents a marginal improvement in 2003 over 2002.

Software license fees increased marginally for the three-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.0 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2002. Software license fees decreased \$3.1 million to \$2.4 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$5.5 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2002. This decrease in the nine-month period is due primarily to license fees that we earned as part of a software license agreement with FNF during 2002 (see Note 11 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements). We recognized no software license fees related to the FNF software license agreement during the nine months ended September 30, 2003. We recognized \$0.6 million and \$3.5 million in software license fees related to the FNF software license agreement during the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2002. Approximately \$0.4 million of license fees remain to be earned and recognized related to the FNF software license agreement; there is no specific date by which the services related to these fees must be utilized. Excluding the 2002 FNF license fees, software license fees increased \$0.6 million for the three month ended September 30, 2003 and decreased \$0.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 compared to the same periods in 2002 due to increased license agreements being signed during the first and second quarters in 2003.

Professional service fees decreased \$0.4 million to \$1.1 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.5 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2002. Professional services fees increased \$0.6 million to \$4.2 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$3.6 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2002. The decrease in professional service fees for the three months ended September 30, 2003, is partially due to a change in product mix and timing of certain professional service fee contracts. In addition, there were fewer billable hours of service and consulting contract work that we performed in connection with the sale and installation of software during the three-month period ended September 30, 2003. During

the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003, we have billed more hours of service and consulting contract work resulting in a significant increase over the same period a year earlier. This is primarily due to a redeployment of resources from the FNF software license agreement to certain other professional service contracts.

Maintenance fees decreased \$0.1 million to \$1.5 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.6 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2002. Maintenance fees increased \$0.2 million to \$4.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$4.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The three months and nine months ended September 30, 2002 included approximately \$0.2 million in mandate fees. Mandates are fees for required changes to our software products that are mandated by card associations. The timing of these mandated changes varies, as does the revenue recognition.

The FNF software license agreement resulted in the inclusion of approximately \$0.2 million in maintenance revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and \$0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. (See Note 11 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.) This is a decrease of approximately \$0.2 million and \$0.5 million compared to the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2002, respectively. Approximately \$0.2 million of maintenance revenues remain to be earned and recognized related to the FNF software license agreement through 2003.

Hardware sales increased marginally in the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2002. The decrease in hardware sales of \$0.2 million to \$0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 is primarily due to a \$0.3 million hardware sale in 2002 related to software license agreement with FNF. Hardware sales are generally sporadic as they are an incidental component to our software license and professional services offerings. The cost for this item is included in direct costs as described below.

Software Sales Backlog

We define "software sales backlog" as fees specified in contracts that we have executed and for which we expect recognition of the related revenue within one year. At September 30, 2003, the revenue backlog was \$5.5 million as compared to \$3.5 million at September 30, 2002. The FNF software license agreement represented \$0.4 million of the September 30, 2003 backlog as compared to \$0.5 million as of September 30, 2002. Strong sales in 2002 and 2003 have enabled us to replace the FNF license agreement within our backlog. We cannot assure you that the contracts included in backlog will actually generate the specified revenues or that the revenues will be generated within the one-year period.

Operating Expenses

Software Solutions Segment operating expenses are grouped into four categories as shown in the table above.

Direct operating costs consist of hardware costs and distributor commissions. Hardware costs are generally sporadic as they are an incidental component to our software license and professional services offerings. Direct operating costs increased marginally to \$0.2 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2002. Direct operating costs decreased slightly to \$0.7 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2002. The increase in direct operating costs for the three months ended September 30, 2003 is primarily due to increased distributor commissions in 2003 as compared to the same period in 2002. The slight decrease in direct operating costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2002 is primarily due to a decrease in hardware costs related to the FNF software license agreement in 2002 partially offset by increased distributor commissions in 2003. We continue to pursue strategic distributor relationships for the sale of our software products. These relationships provide an avenue for efficient sales of our products to customers or in geographic regions that may otherwise be inaccessible.

Salary and benefits decreased \$0.9 million to \$2.2 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$3.1 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2002. Salary and benefits decreased \$2.2 million to \$6.9 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003 from \$9.1 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2002. These reductions are generally due to reduced resource commitments for certain development and professional service fee contracts, as well as to an increase in capitalization of salaries for software development costs related to our credit card and U.S.-based prepaid processing software development.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by \$0.5 million to \$0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased \$0.4 million to \$2.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$2.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. This decrease is primarily due to an increase in one-time credits and incentives received in 2003 related to the renegotiation of

certain telecommunication contracts, as well as a reduction in certain resources committed to our development and professional service groups.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased to \$0.3 million for the three months ended September 2003, and to \$0.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The increase is due to the addition of \$0.8 million in capitalized software development costs during 2002. Amortization of capitalized software development costs was \$0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and \$0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 and \$0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

We have made an ongoing commitment to the development, maintenance and enhancement of our products and services. In particular, we invested and will continue to invest in new software products that permit additional features and transactions on our ATM network. In addition, we continue to invest in the ongoing development of products that were recently introduced to the market. Our research and development costs for software products to be sold, leased or otherwise marketed were \$1.0 million and \$2.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and nine months ended September 30, 2003, respectively, and \$1.0 million and \$2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002 and nine months ended September 30, 2002, respectively.

We capitalize software development costs in accordance with our accounting policy of capitalizing development costs on a product-by-product basis once technological feasibility is established. We establish technological feasibility of computer software products when we complete all planning, designing, coding, and testing activities necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet its design specifications, including functions, features and technical performance requirements. We capitalized \$0.3 million in the three months ended September 30, 2003, as compared to \$0.1 million capitalized during the nine months ended September 30, 2002. We capitalized \$0.7 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2003, as compared to \$0.3 million capitalized during the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

Operating Income

The Software Solutions Segment reported operating income of \$0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to operating loss of \$0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to \$0.8 million for the nine month period ended September 30, 2002. The increases of \$0.8 million and \$0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003, respectively, are primarily due to a reduction in salaries and benefits expenses and selling, general and administrative expenses as discussed above.

CORPORATE SERVICES

	Three months ended Sept. 30,		Nine months ended Sept. 30,	
2003	2002	2003	2002	
\$ 696	\$ 396	\$1,951	\$1,386	
1,211	793	2,834	2,244	
20	84	63	40	
\$1,927	\$1,273	\$4,848	\$3,670	
	2003 \$ 696 1,211 20	ended Sept. 30, 2003 2002 \$ 696 \$ 396 1,211 793 20 84	ended Sept. 30, ended Sept. 30, 2003 2002 2003 \$ 696 \$ 396 \$ 1,951 1,211 793 2,834 20 84 63	

Operating Expenses

Corporate salary, general, administrative and depreciation expenses increased \$0.6 million to \$1.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002, and increased \$1.1 million to \$4.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$3.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The increases are due to increased salary and benefits costs of \$0.3 million and \$0.6 million for three- and nine-month periods. Corporate salaries increased due to salary increases granted for improved performance and a modest increase in headcount. General and administrative expenses increased \$0.4 and \$0.6 million for the three- and nine-month periods due to increases in legal and accounting fees as a result of the growth of the business and certain compliance requirements with respect to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Depreciation was constant for the three- and nine-month periods on a comparable basis.

NON-OPERATING RESULTS

Interest Income

Interest income was \$0.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to \$0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002 and \$0.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 compared to \$0.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. This increase is due to an increase in temporary cash investments included in cash and restricted cash on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. e-pay earns interest on cash temporarily held in trust accounts. These balances are used in connection with the administration of customer collection and vendor remittance activities in the Prepaid Processing Segment.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to \$1.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from \$1.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Interest expense increased to \$5.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from \$4.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. For the nine months ended September 30, 2003, this increase was primarily due to an increase of \$0.3 million in interest related to the Senior Discount Notes due to a weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro during 2003 as well as \$1.0 million of interest on indebtedness incurred with the acquisition of e-pay. This increase was substantially offset by the resulting reduction in interest expense as a result of a \$9.0 million cash redemption of the euro-denominated Senior Discount Notes that we made in July 2002 as well as payments of \$2.2 million on capital lease obligations.

Gain on Sale of Subsidiary

The gain on subsidiary of \$18.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 relates to the sale of our U.K. subsidiary in January 2003. This sale is more fully described in Note 5 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Exchange Loss/Gain

We had a net foreign exchange loss of \$0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003, compared to a net foreign exchange gain of \$0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002 and a net foreign exchange loss of \$5.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, compared to a net foreign exchange gain of \$3.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. This loss is primarily due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar, particularly relative to the euro, in excess of 18% since September 30, 2002. Exchange gains and losses that result from remeasurement of some of our assets and liabilities are recorded in determining net loss. A portion of the assets and liabilities are denominated in euros, including capital lease obligations, the Senior Discount Notes, as well as certain cash and cash equivalents. It is our policy to attempt to match local currency receivables and payables. The foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities give rise to foreign exchange gains and losses as a result of U.S. dollar to local currency exchange movements.

Income Tax Expense/Benefit

Tax expense on income from continuing operations was \$0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to a \$0.4 million tax benefit for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Tax expense on income from continuing operations was \$2.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to a tax benefit on income from continuing operations of \$1.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The 2003 tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 is comprised of \$1.6 million in tax expense related to the Prepaid Processing Segment, \$1.2 million in tax expense related to the EFT Processing Segment, and \$0.5 million in tax benefit related to Corporate. Taxable income is now being generated in several tax jurisdictions within these business segments. The income tax benefit for 2002 was primarily due to the recognition of tax benefits from net operating losses. The effective tax rate in our profitable markets ranges from 20% to 40%, excluding the effects of net operating loss carryovers in other markets.

The effective tax rate was 34.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 14.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The effective tax rate of 34.1% in the third quarter of 2003 is due to the existence of taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions concurrent with losses in other tax jurisdictions. These losses did not meet the requirements of SFAS 109 for tax benefit recognition. During the three months ended September 30, 2003, we also recognized a one-time tax benefit of \$0.5 million as a result of a European Court of Justice decision, which permits our Netherlands' holding company to claim formerly disallowed interest expense deductions on loans to its EU subsidiaries. The effective tax rate of 14.1% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003, was lower than expected on an ongoing basis primarily due to the non-taxable gain on the sale of the U.K. ATM network.

The effective tax rate was (15.1%) for the three months ended September 30, 2002 and (21.4%) for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The effective tax rate of (15.1%) in the third quarter of 2002 was due to the recognition of benefits from tax losses in certain tax jurisdictions in accordance with SFAS 109. The effective tax rate of 21.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 was primarily due to net operating loss benefits that offset the gain on the U.S. based DASH ATM network.

Net Loss (Income)

In summary, we generated a net income of \$1.4 million during the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to net loss of \$2.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to a net loss of \$3.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 compared to a net loss of \$3.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

The primary differences in the net income (loss) for the three months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2002 are summarized below:

- increase in operating income from the Prepaid Processing Segment of \$3.0 million
- increase in operating income of the EFT Processing Segment of \$1.2 million
- increase in operating income of the Software Segment of \$0.8 million
- increase in equity income from unconsolidated investee companies of \$0.4 million
- decrease in loss on early retirement of debt of \$0.8 million
- increase in interest income of \$0.2 million
- offset by
 - increase in interest expense of \$0.4 million
 - increase in the foreign exchange loss of \$0.5 million
 - increase in income tax expense of \$1.2 million
 - increase in corporate expense of \$0.7 million

The primary differences in the net income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to nine months ended September 30, 2002 are summarized below:

- the gain on the sale the U.K. ATM network of \$18.0 million in February 2003
- increase in operating income from the Prepaid Processing Segment of \$7.2 million
- increase in operating income of the EFT Processing Segment of \$1.0 million
- increase in equity income from investee unconsolidated companies of \$0.5 million
- decrease in loss on early retirement of debt of \$1.0 million
- increase in interest income of \$0.7 million
- · offset by
 - increase in interest expense of \$0.6 million
 - increase in the foreign exchange loss of \$2.0 million
 - increase in corporate expense of \$1.2 million
 - increase in income tax expense of \$4.2 million
 - decrease in income from discontinued operations (U.S.-based Dash and France) of \$3.0 million

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Prior to 2002, we had negative cash flow from operations. We funded operations and capital expenditures through proceeds from debt and equity offerings as well as through capital lease financing. As more fully described above, we funded the recent acquisition of e-pay with cash, debt and equity.

Our unrestricted cash balance was \$12.9 million as of September 30, 2003, compared to \$13.1 million at June 30, 2003. The decrease in cash from June 30, 2003 was generally the result of cash generated from operations offset by uses of funds for capital expenditures, repayment of debt and completion of the acquisition of the assets of Austin International Marketing and Investments, Inc. at the end of the third quarter. Restricted cash of \$43.4 million at September 30, 2003 includes \$38.1 million of cash held in trust and/or cash held on behalf of others in connection with the administration of the customer collection activities in the Prepaid Processing Segment. Cash flow during the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was increased by approximately \$28.9 million due to net proceeds from the sale of the U.K. ATM network and decreased by \$26.7 million due to the purchase of e-pay, net of cash acquired.

Due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro throughout 2003, the amount of our long-term Senior Discount Notes outstanding has increased from \$36.3 million at December 31, 2002 to \$39.6 million at June 30, 2003 and to \$40.2 million at September 30, 2003.

We commenced cash payments of interest on Senior Discount Notes on January 1, 2003 and are required to continue to make such payments on a semi-annual basis on January 1 and July 1 through 2006. At current debt levels, we will be required to make approximately \$2.5 million (€2.2 million at an exchange rate of \$1.16 dollars to the euro) in interest payments on a semi annual basis through 2006 on January 1 and July 1 of each year. The remaining principal balance of Senior Discount Notes of approximately

\$40.2 million carrying value (approximately €35 million) will be due and payable on July 2006.

Since July 1, 2002, we may at any time exercise our right to partially or fully redeem the Senior Discount Notes for cash without restriction. Any redemption is subject to an early redemption premium as defined in the Senior Discount Notes indenture. The early redemption premium decreases throughout the term of the Senior Discount Notes. Starting July 1, 2003, the early redemption premium is 4%, then decreases to 2% July 1, 2004 and no premium from July 1, 2005 and thereafter.

We intend to reduce our indebtedness under our Senior Discount Notes through repurchase of notes from time to time in exchange for equity as we have done in the past and/or through repayments as our cash flows permit. In the event we are not able to exchange debt for equity or repay the debt through cash flows, we will attempt to refinance this debt to decrease interest costs and, if possible, extend its repayment period if reasonable terms are available.

In connection with the acquisition of e-pay, we incurred indebtedness to the former e-pay shareholders of \$26.9 million (payable in British pounds sterling), which is composed of three separate elements:

- Deferred purchase price in the amount of \$8.5 million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 6% and payable quarterly in an amount equal to 90% of contractually defined excess cash flows generated by e-pay. As of October 10, 2003 this indebtedness has been paid in full.
- Indebtedness of \$7.4 million under promissory notes bearing interest at an annual rate of 7%, with accrued interest payable on March 31 and September 30 of each year, beginning on September 30, 2003, until maturity on February 18, 2005. The amount outstanding under these notes is convertible in the aggregate into 647,282 shares of our common stock at the option of the holders, based upon an initial conversion price (subject to adjustment) of \$11.43 per share. We may compel conversion after February 18, 2004 of the entire amount of this indebtedness (effectively repaying it through the issuance of our common stock) when the average market price on the Nasdaq National Market of our common stock for 30 consecutive trading days exceeds \$15.72 (subject to adjustment based on adjustments to the initial conversion price). We expect to repay this indebtedness through conversion or by compelling conversion if this benchmark is reached. If the debt does not convert or we are unable to compel conversion, we will either seek to repay it through available cash flows, if any, from our business or to refinance this debt.
- Indebtedness of \$11.0 million under promissory notes bearing interest at an annual rate of 8%, with accrued interest payable on March 31 and September 30 of each year, beginning on September 30, 2003, until maturity on February 18, 2005. Our current cash flow levels would be sufficient to make the semi-annual interest payments but would not be sufficient to repay this debt at maturity. We expect our cash flows to increase sufficiently to permit full repayment of this debt when it falls due. If our cash flows are insufficient for this purpose, we will seek to refinance this debt.

We offer no assurances that we will be able to obtain favorable terms for refinancing of any of our debt as described above.

In the EFT Processing Segment, we lease many of our ATMs under capital lease arrangements that expire between 2003 and 2008. The leases bear interest between 8% and 12% per year. As of September 30, 2003, we owed \$4.4 million under these capital lease arrangements. We expect that our capital requirements will continue in the future, although our strategy to focus on ATM outsourcing opportunities rather than ATM ownership and deployment as well as redeployment of under-performing ATMs will reduce capital requirements.

In the Prepaid Processing Segment, we own approximately 25% of the 75,000 POS devices that we operate. The remaining 75% represent integrated cash register devices of our major retail customers. As the prepaid processing business expands, we will continue to add terminals in certain independent retail locations at a price of approximately \$300 per terminal. We expect the proportion of owned terminals to remain at a similar percent of total terminals operated.

Fixed asset purchases for 2003 are currently estimated to be in the range of \$5.0 to \$7.0 million.

We are required to maintain ATM hardware and software in accordance with certain regulations and mandates established by local country regulatory and administrative bodies as well as Europay, Visa and MasterCard. Accordingly, we expect additional capital

expenditures over the next few years to maintain compliance with these regulations. Upgrades to the ATM software and hardware will also be required on or before 2005 to enable certain "micro—chip" card technology for smart cards. Our ATM hardware and software will need to be modified to enable the use of smart cards. We are currently developing a project plan for implementation and delivery and estimating the costs associated with the hardware and software modifications.

Effective July 1, 2001, we implemented our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, under which employees have the opportunity to purchase common stock through payroll deductions according to specific eligibility and participation requirements. This plan qualifies as an "employee stock purchase plan" under section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. We completed a series of offerings of three months duration with new offerings commencing on January 1, April 1, July 1, and October 1 of each year. Under the plan, participating employees are granted options, which immediately vest and are automatically exercised on the final date of the respective offering period. The exercise price of common stock options purchased is the lesser of 85% of the "fair market value" (as defined in the ESPP) of the shares on the first day of each offering or the last date of each offering. The options are funded by participating employees' payroll deductions or cash payments.

Under the provisions of the ESPP, we reserved 500,000 shares of common stock all of which we had issued as of December 31, 2002. In February 2003, we adopted a new ESPP and reserved 500,000 shares of common stock for issuance under that plan. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we issued 50,893 shares at an average price of \$7.60 per share, resulting in proceeds to us of approximately \$0.4 million.

In February 2003, we made matching contributions of 28,015 shares of stock in conjunction with our 401(k) employee benefits plan for the plan year 2002. Under the terms of this plan, employer-matching contributions consist of two parts, referred to as "basic" and "discretionary." The basic matching contribution is equal to 50% of eligible employee elective salary deferrals between 4% and 6% of participating employee salaries for the plan year. The discretionary matching contribution is determined by our Board of Directors for a plan year and is allocated in proportion to employee elective deferrals. As of September 30, 2003, total employer matching contributions since inception of the plan has consisted of 55,478 shares under the basic match and 16,274 shares under the discretionary matching contribution.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2003 (unaudited, in thousands):

		Payments due by period				
	Total	Less than 1 year	1-3 years	3-5 years	More than 5 years	
Contractual Obligations			(in thousands)			
Notes payable (including interest)	\$ 81,227	\$ 8,649	\$72,578	\$ —	\$ —	
Capital leases (including interest)	5,260	2,643	2,089	383	145	
Operating leases	11,822	2,650	4,507	3,759	906	
Purchase obligations	18,956	7,208	9,237	2,319	192	
Other long-term liabilities	_	_	_	_		
Total	\$117,265	\$21,150	\$88,411	\$ 6,461	\$ 1,243	

Purchase obligations include contractual amounts for ATM maintenance, cleaning, telecommunication and cash replenishment operating expenses. Although contractual payments may be greater or less based on the number of ATMs and transaction levels, purchase obligations listed above are estimated based on current levels of such business activity. We have no other significant off-balance sheet items.

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Our September 30, 2003 balance sheet has changed significantly compared to December 31, 2002, due to the acquisition of e-pay.

e-pay is responsible for the collection of cash receipts from the retailer for remittance to the telecommunication provider. Cash is collected into designated trust accounts classified as restricted cash balances that are not available for our operating business activities. This results in significant current assets held in restricted cash and trade accounts receivable due from retailers, and a corresponding liability to the telecommunications provider classified as accounts payable/accrued expense that substantially offsets this amount. Additionally, the acquisition of e-pay was made at a significant premium to the underlying historical cost basis of the

e-pay assets, resulting in significant goodwill and other intangible assets as further described below.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents increased to \$12.9 million at September 30, 2003 from \$12.0 million at December 31, 2002 primarily due to the following activity:

- cash provided by operating activities of \$10.9 million
- net proceeds from exercise of stock options, warrants and employee share purchases of \$1.9 million
- net proceeds from the sale of our U.K. ATM network of \$24.4 million
- proceeds from other borrowings of \$0.6 million
- proceeds from the sale of ATM's of \$2.7 million
- · offset by
 - the purchase of e-pay of \$26.7 million
 - the purchase of AIM of \$0.8
 - the cash purchase of \$3.7 million of fixed assets and other long-term assets
 - lease repayments of \$3.6 million
 - e-pay shareholder note repayments of \$4.8 million

Restricted cash

Restricted cash increased to \$43.4 million at September 30, 2003 from \$4.4 million at December 31, 2002 primarily due to the acquisition of e-pay. Approximately \$38.1 million of the restricted cash is held in trust accounts by our Prepaid Processing Segment on behalf of the mobile operators for which we process transactions. These balances are used in connection with the administration of customer collection and vendor remittance activities in the Prepaid Processing Segment. The remainder is held as security with respect to cash provided by banks participating in our ATM network.

Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable increased to \$50.0 million at September 30, 2003 from \$8.4 million at December 31, 2002 primarily due to the acquisition of e-pay in February 2003. Approximately \$40.0 million represented the trade accounts receivable of our Prepaid Processing Segment, which related to the administration of customer collection and vendor remittance activities in the Prepaid Processing Segment.

Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale as of December 31, 2002 of \$10.8 million include the net assets for our U.K. ATM network subsidiary, which was sold in January 2003, as discussed in Note 5 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Net property, plant and equipment decreased to \$18.2 million at September 30, 2003 from \$21.4 million at December 31, 2002. This decrease results from depreciation and amortization of \$8.9 million in excess of fixed asset purchases. This is a result of our strategy to operate ATMs under outsourcing service arrangements rather than own and deploy ATMs, thus reducing the required less capital expenditures for ATMs. Additionally this reflects the low ongoing capital requirements of our Prepaid Processing business.

Goodwill

Goodwill increased to \$63.3 million at September 30, 2003 from \$1.8 million at December 31, 2002. The increase from December 31, 2002 to September 30, 2003 is primarily due to the purchase of e-pay in February 2003. Of the total purchase price, a preliminary estimate of \$13.9 million has been allocated to amortizable intangible assets acquired (included in other assets, net) and \$64.7 million has been allocated to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives. e-pay goodwill alone is approximately \$61.2 million.

Additionally, goodwill of approximately \$1.4 million was recorded during the three months ended September 30, 2003 in connection with the acquisition of AIM in August 2003.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the fair value of the underlying net tangible and intangible assets. The amortizable assets are being amortized over an eight year expected life. All amortizable and indefinite life intangibles are included in other assets, net.

We believe that these intangible assets and goodwill will be recoverable through cash flow from future profitable operations, and therefore, have recorded no impairment loss. These estimates are based on certain assumptions for revenue growth, market segment share and estimated costs. In accordance with new accounting rule for goodwill, our policy is to perform an annual review for impairment in the third quarter of each year. If indicators of impairment exist, the study will be performed more frequently.

Other assets

Other assets increased from \$2.4 million at December 31, 2002 to \$20.4 million at September 30, 2003. This increase was primarily due to the acquisition of intangible assets in connection with the purchase of e-pay in February 2003.

Current liabilities

Current liabilities increased to \$104.9 million at September 30, 2003 from \$19.8 million at December 31, 2002 due to the following activity:

- an increase in trade accounts payable of \$64.9 million due primarily to the purchase of e-pay. Of this increase, \$63.8 million is related to the administration of customer collection and vendor remittance activities in the Prepaid Processing Segment
- an increase in other accrued expenses of \$23.4 million due primarily to the purchase of e-pay. Of this increase, \$15.4 million is related to the administration of customer collection and vendor remittance activities in the Prepaid Processing Segment. Additional liabilities assumed with the purchase of AIM were \$0.7 million. Approximately \$1.0 million related to the indebtedness incurred with the purchase of e-pay
- offset by a decrease in the current portion of capital lease obligations of \$1.4 million

Liabilities held for sale

Liabilities held for sale as of December 31, 2002 of \$3.5 million represent the net liabilities for our U.K. subsidiary, which was sold in January 2003 as discussed in Note 5 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Capital leases

Total capital lease obligations including current installments decreased to \$4.4 million at September 30, 2003 from \$7.7 million at December 31, 2002. This results from the \$2.9 million excess of lease payments over new capital lease obligations and \$0.4 million of leases paid on our behalf in connection with the sale of the U.K. ATM network. The new capital leases are generally for a term of three to five years. Our strategic business tactic to operate ATMs through outsourcing contracts rather than through ownership and deployment should continue to allow for further reductions in capital leases as current lease obligations continue to be paid off.

Notes payable

Notes payable increased to \$63.3 million at September 30, 2003 from \$36.3 million at December 31, 2002 primarily due to the indebtedness incurred with the purchase of e-pay. A summary of the activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 is as follows (unaudited, in thousands):

		Acquisition Notes			Senior Discount Notes	Total
	Deferred Purchase Price (6%)	(payable in GBPs) Convertible Debt (7%)	Note Payable (8%)		(payable in euros)	
					<u> </u>	
Balance at December 31, 2002	\$ —	_	_	_	\$36,318	\$36,318
Indebtedness incurred	8,533	7,353	10,981	26,867	_	26,867
Payments applied	(4,787)	_	_	(4,787)	(24)	(4,811)
Accretion of discount		_	_		32	32
Unrealized foreign exchange loss	200	349	520	1,069	3,854	4,923
Balance at September 30, 2003	\$ 3,946	7,702	11,501	23,149	\$40,180	\$63,329

Subsequent to September 30, 2003, the remaining \$4.0 million of the original \$8.5 million e-pay acquisition deferred cash notes was paid in full.

Deferred Income Taxes

The long-term portion of deferred income tax liability decreased to \$3.3 million at September 30, 2003, from \$3.4 million at June 30, 2003, due to the deferred tax effect of the amortization of intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition of e-pay. The intangible assets have amortizable book value and no related tax basis.

Total Stockholders' Equity

Total stockholders' equity increased to \$42.4 million at September 30, 2003 from \$6.2 million at December 31, 2002. This results from the following activity:

- \$14.0 million in net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, including a gain on the sale of our U.K. subsidiary of \$18.0 million
- \$18.0 million in common stock issued to the former shareholders of e-pay in connection with the purchase of e-pay
- \$1.1 million in common stock issued in connection with the acquisition of AIM
- \$2.4 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options, employee stock purchases and employer-matching portion of employees' 401(k) contributions.
- \$0.7 million reduction in the accumulated comprehensive loss due to foreign exchange fluctuations.

We have guaranteed certain performance obligations of certain joint ventures under service agreements entered into by the joint ventures and our customers. The amount of such obligations is not stated in the agreements. Depending on the negotiated terms of the guaranty and/or on the underlying service agreement, our liability under the guaranty may be subject to time and materiality limitations, monetary caps and other conditions and defenses.

In certain instances in which we license proprietary systems to customers, we give certain warranties and infringement indemnities to the licensee, the terms of which vary depending on the negotiated terms of each respective license agreement, but which generally warrant that such systems will perform in accordance with their specifications. The amount of such obligations is not stated in the license agreements. Our liability for breach of such warranties may be subject to time and materiality limitations, monetary caps and other conditions and defenses.

From time to time, we enter into agreements with unaffiliated parties containing indemnification provisions, the terms of which vary depending on the negotiated terms of each respective agreement. The amount of such obligations is not stated in the agreements. Our liability under such indemnification provisions may be subject to time and materiality limitations, monetary caps and other conditions and defenses. Such indemnity obligations include the following:

- We have entered into purchase and service agreements with our vendors, and consulting agreements with providers of consulting services to us, pursuant to which we have agreed to indemnify certain of such vendors and consultants, respectively, against third party claims arising from our use of the vendor's product or the services of the vendor or consultant.
- In connection with the disposition of subsidiaries, operating units and business assets by us, we have entered into agreements containing indemnification provisions, the terms of which vary depending on the negotiated terms of each

respective agreement, but which are generally described as follows: (i) in connection with acquisitions made by us, we have agreed to indemnify the seller against third party claims made against the seller relating to the subject subsidiary, operating unit or asset and arising after the closing of the transaction, and (ii) in connection with dispositions made by us, we have agreed to indemnify the buyer against damages incurred by the buyer due to the buyer's reliance on representations and warranties relating to the subject subsidiary, operating unit or business assets in the disposition agreement if such representations or warranties were untrue when made.

- We have entered into agreements with certain third parties, including banks, that provide fiduciary and other services to us or to our benefit plans. Under such agreements, we have agreed to indemnify such service providers for third party claims relating to the carrying out of their respective duties under such agreements.
- Pursuant to the charter of us, we are obligated to indemnify the officers and directors of our company to the maximum extent authorized by Delaware law. The amount of such obligations is not stated in the charter or the resolutions and is subject only to limitations imposed by Delaware law. At September 30, 2003, we had not accrued any liability on the aforementioned guarantees or indemnifications.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For details of critical accounting policies please refer to the audited consolidated financial statements of Euronet Worldwide, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2002, including the notes thereto, set forth in the Company's Form 10-K.

IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT YET ADOPTED

SFAS 150

In May 2003, Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 150 (SFAS 150), "Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity" was issued. SFAS 150 requires certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity to be classified as liabilities. SFAS 150 is effective for all financial instruments created or modified after May 31, 2003, and to other instruments for the first interim period beginning after September 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 is not expected to have a material effect on our financial statements.

EITF 00-21

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) of the FASB reached a consensus on EITF No. 00-21, "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Element Deliverables" (EITF 00-21). The issue addresses how to account for arrangements that may involve multiple revenue-generating activities, i.e., the delivery or performance of multiple products, services, and/or rights to use assets. In applying this guidance, separate contracts with the same party, entered into at or near the same time, will be presumed to be a package, and the consideration will be measured and allocated to the separate units based on their relative fair values. This consensus guidance will be applicable to agreements entered into in quarters beginning after September 15, 2003. We adopted this new accounting effective July 1, 2003.

On April 30, 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, "Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" (SFAS 149), which amends Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" (SFAS 133), to address (i) decisions reached by the Derivatives Implementation Group, (ii) developments in other Board projects that address financial instruments, and (iii) implementation issues related to the definition of a derivative. SFAS 149 has multiple effective date provisions depending the nature of the amendment to SFAS 133. We are currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS 149 will have on our financial position and results of operations.

SFAS 149

At the January 23, 2003 meeting, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached consensuses on EITF 02-18 "Accounting for Subsequent Investments in an Investee after Suspension of Equity Method Loss Recognition." Issues 1 and 2 of EITF 02-18, which considered whether, (i) an investor should recognize any previously suspended losses when accounting for a subsequent investment in an investee that does not result in the ownership interest increasing from one of significant influence to one of control, and (ii) if the additional investment represents the funding of prior losses, whether all previously suspended losses should be recognized or whether only the previously suspended losses equal to the portion of the investment determined to be funding prior losses should be recognized. The EITF concluded that if the additional investment, represents, in substance, the funding of prior losses, the investor should recognize previously suspended losses only up to the amount of the additional investment determined to represent the funding of prior losses. At its February 5, 2003 meeting, the FASB ratified the consensuses reached by the Task Force in this issue. We have discontinued recording losses on the equity method investment in our subsidiary in Indonesia. If we make additional investments in

this subsidiary, we would be required to recognize additional losses to the extent these additional investments are considered funding of unrecognized prior losses of the subsidiary.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of section 27A of the Securities Act and section 21E of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this document are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the following:

- Trends affecting our business plans and financing plans and requirements
- Trends affecting our business
- The adequacy of capital to meet our capital requirements and expansion plans
- The assumptions underlying our business plans
- Business strategy
- · Government regulatory action
- Technological advances
- · Projected costs and revenues

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to be correct. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by the words believe, expect, anticipate, intend, estimate and similar expressions.

Investors are cautioned that any forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may materially differ from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including the following:

- Technological and business developments in the local card, electronic and mobile banking and mobile phone markets affecting transaction and other fees that we are able to charge for our services
- · Foreign exchange fluctuations
- Competition from bank-owned ATM networks, outsource providers of ATM services, software providers and providers of prepaid mobile phone services
- Our relationships with our major customers, sponsor banks in various markets and international card organizations, including the risk of contract terminations with major customers
- · Changes in laws and regulations affecting our business

These risks and other risks are described in Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 10-Q and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Exchange Exposure

In the nine months ended September 30, 2003, 84% of our revenues were generated in Poland, Hungary, Australia, the U.K. and Germany as compared to 64% in the nine months ended September 30, 2002. This increase is due to the overall increase in revenues for our operations, including in these five countries and particularly due to the acquisition of e-pay in the U.K. and Australia, which accounted for 64% of the revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. In Hungary and Poland, the majority of revenues received are denominated in the Hungarian forint and Polish zloty, respectively. However, the majority of our foreign currency denominated contracts in both countries are linked to either inflation or the retail price index. In the U.K. and Germany, 100% of the revenues received are denominated in the British pound and the euro, respectively.

We estimate that a 10% depreciation in foreign exchange rates of the euro, Australian dollar, Hungarian forint, Polish zloty and the British pound sterling against the U.S. dollar would have the combined effect of a \$3.0 million increase in the reported net income. We estimate that a 10% appreciation in the foreign exchange rates of the euro, Australian dollar, Hungarian forint, Polish zloty and British pound sterling against the dollar would have a combined effect of a \$3.8 million decrease in reported net income. These effects were estimated by segregating revenues and expenses by the U.S. dollar, Hungarian forint, Polish zloty, British pounds and euro and then applying a 10% currency devaluation to the non-U.S. dollar amounts. We believe this quantitative measure has inherent limitations. It does not take into account any governmental actions or changes in either customer purchasing patterns or our financing or operating strategies.

As a result of continued European economic convergence, including the increased influence of the euro as opposed to the U.S. dollar on the Central European currencies, we expect that the currencies of the markets where we invest will fluctuate less against the euro than against the dollar. Accordingly, we believe that our euro-denominated debt provides, in the medium to long term, for a closer matching of assets and liabilities than would dollar-denominated debt.

Interest Payments

Beginning January 1, 2003, interest payments of approximately €2.2 million (estimated \$2.5 million as of September 30, 2003) are payable semi-annually on our outstanding 12 3/8% senior debt. Payment dates are January 1 and July 1, with the final interest payment due on July 1, 2006. Payments due January 1, 2003 and July 1, 2003 were made timely. Because the bond interest is payable in euro, foreign currency fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the euro may result in gains or losses which, in turn, may increase or decrease the amount of U.S. dollar equivalent interest paid.

In October 2003, we made our third and final principal and interest payment on our deferred purchase price debt incurred with the purchase of e-pay. Annual interest payments on the remaining e-pay acquisition notes total approximately £0.9 million (estimated \$1.5 million as of September 30, 2003) with the final interest payment due on February 19, 2005. This interest is payable semi-annually.

We currently anticipate making these interest payments largely from earnings denominated in local currencies in our European markets. As a result, it may not be necessary to hedge these expected cash payments in U.S. dollars, since the source of funds used for payments would already be in pounds sterling or euro-linked denominations. We will actively monitor our potential need to hedge future bond interest payments, and if required, we will initiate hedging strategies to minimize foreign currency losses resulting from payments made from U.S. dollars.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures ("Disclosure Controls") as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Company's CEO and CFO concluded that the Company's Disclosure Controls are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in the Company's periodic SEC filings.

Disclosure Controls are procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Quarterly Report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms. Disclosure Controls are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company's management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls will prevent all error. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake.

The evaluation we made of our Disclosure Controls included a review of the controls' objectives, the Company's implementation of the controls and the effect of the controls on the information generated for use in this Quarterly Report.

There has been no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2003 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 2. CHANGES IN SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

In September 2003, we issued 114,374 shares of our common stock ("Euronet Stock") to the shareowners of Austin International Marketing and Investments, Inc. (AIM). The Euronet securities issued in this transactions were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Regulation D thereunder. This transaction is described more fully in Note 4 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORT ON FORM 8-K

(a) Exhibits

Exhibit 31(a)	Certifications of Chief Executive Officer
Exhibit 31(b)	Certifications of Principal Accounting Officer
- 1414 5563	6 16 1 5 1077666 1 10

Exhibit 32(a) Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

Exhibit 32(b) Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

Exhibit 99.1 Risk Factors

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On July 30, 2003 the Company filed a current report on Form 8-K reporting events and information under Item 7 ("Financial Statements, Pro Forma Financial Information and Exhibits") and Item 12 ("Results of Operations and Financial Condition").

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

November 14, 2003

By: /s/ MICHAEL J. BROWN

Michael J. Brown Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ RICK L. WELLER

Rick L. Weller Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Description
E 1:1:: 04()	
Exhibit 31(a)	Certifications of Chief Executive Officer
Exhibit 31(b)	Certifications of Principal Accounting Officer
Exhibit 32(a)	Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Exhibit 32(b)	Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Exhibit 99.1	Risk Factors

EXHIBIT 31(a)

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

- I, Michael J. Brown, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
 - 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 of Euronet Worldwide, Inc.;
 - 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 - 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 - 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) [Omitted in reliance on SEC Release No. 33-8238; 34-47986 Section III.E.]
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
 - 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2003

/s/ Michael J. Brown

Michael J. Brown, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31(b)

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER

- I, Rick L. Weller, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, certify that:
 - 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 of Euronet Worldwide, Inc.;
 - 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
 - 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 - 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) [Omitted in reliance on SEC Release No. 33-8238; 34-47986 Section III.E.]
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
 - 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2003

/s/ Rick L. Weller

Rick L. Weller, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer

EXHIBIT 32(a)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Euronet Worldwide, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended September 30, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Michael J. Brown, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Michael J. Brown

Michael J. Brown, Chief Executive Officer November 14, 2003

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Euronet Worldwide, Inc. and will be retained by Euronet Worldwide, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 32(b)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Euronet Worldwide, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended September 30, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Rick L. Weller, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Rick L. Weller

Rick L. Weller, Chief Financial Officer November 14, 2003

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Euronet Worldwide, Inc. and will be retained by Euronet Worldwide, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 99.1

RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully the following risk factors in evaluating us, our business and an investment in our securities. Any of the following risks, as well as other risks and uncertainties, could harm our business and financial results and cause the value of our securities to decline, which in turn could cause you to lose all or a part of your investment. The risks below are not the only ones facing our Company. Additional risks not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business.

We have incurred net losses for almost all of our operating history. We may continue to generate net losses for the foreseeable future while we concentrate on expansion of our business.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, we had net losses of approximately \$6.5 million. And for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, excluding the one-time gain of \$18.0 million from the sale of our U.K. subsidiary on January 17, 2003, we had net losses of approximately \$4.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we had net income of approximately \$0.7 million, and for the years ended 2000 and 1999, we had net losses of approximately \$49.6 million and \$30.9 million, respectively. Also excluding the \$18.0 million gain, this results in an aggregate net loss of approximately \$90.3 million for the period January 1, 1999 through September 30, 2003. We may experience operating losses again while we continue to concentrate on expansion of our business and increasing our market share. If we cannot achieve and sustain operating profitability or positive cash flow from operations, we may not be able to meet our debt service or working capital requirements.

We have substantial indebtedness, and we will need a substantial increase in cash flows to continue to be able to meet our debt service obligations.

We have substantial indebtedness. As of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002, our total liabilities were approximately \$176.1 million and \$60.4 million, respectively, and our total assets were approximately \$218.4 million and \$66.7 million, respectively. We incurred this indebtedness in part as a result of our issuance of certain 12 3/8% Senior Discount Notes that fall due on July 1, 2006. Interest payments under these notes became due beginning on January 1, 2003.

We will be required to refinance a portion of our debt to ensure that we are able to repay such debt on a timely basis. In addition, if the opportunity of a strategic acquisition arises or if we enter into new contracts that require the installation or servicing of ATM machines on a faster pace than anticipated, we may require additional financing for these purposes and to fund our working capital needs. This additional financing may be in the form of additional indebtedness that would increase our overall leverage.

The level of our indebtedness could have important consequences to investors, including the following:

- We must substantially increase our net cash flow to meet our outstanding debt service obligations and to fund adequately our planned capital
 expenditures and operations
- Our ability to obtain any necessary financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements or other purposes may be limited or financing may be unavailable
- A substantial portion of our cash flows must be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness and other obligations and will not be available for use in our business
- · Our level of indebtedness could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the markets in which we operate
- Our high degree of indebtedness will make us more vulnerable to changes in general economic conditions and/or a downturn in our business, thereby making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations

In addition, if we fail to make required debt payments, or if we fail to comply with other covenants in our debt service agreements, we would be in default under the terms of these agreements. This would permit the holders of the indebtedness to accelerate repayment of this debt and could cause defaults under other indebtedness that we have.

We face some uncertainties in integrating e-pay operations.

The success of the e-pay acquisition is in part dependent on the ability following the acquisition to integrate operations and leverage our existing relationships with mobile phone operators and retailers. Although the management of our Company, with assistance of e-pay management, intends to work diligently to effectively integrate the operations of the two companies, we can give no assurance as to the timing or extent to which integration will be achieved. In addition, the loss of key e-pay employees, suppliers and customers could have a material adverse effect on our ability to successfully integrate e-pay's operations.

A lack of business opportunities or financial resources may impede our ability to continue to expand at desired levels, and our failure to expand operations could have an adverse impact on our financial condition.

Our expansion plans and opportunities are focused on three separate areas: (i) our network of owned and operated ATMs; (ii) outsourced ATM management contracts; and (iii) our prepaid mobile phone airtime services.

The continued expansion and development of our ATM business will depend on various factors including the following:

- the demand for our ATM services in our current target markets
- the ability to locate appropriate ATM sites and obtain necessary approvals for the installation of ATMs
- the ability to install ATMs in an efficient and timely manner
- the expansion of our business into new countries as currently planned
- · entering into additional card acceptance and ATM management agreements with banks
- the ability to obtain sufficient numbers of ATMs on a timely basis
- the availability of financing for the expansion

We carefully monitor the growth of our ATM networks in each of our markets, and we accelerate or delay our expansion plans depending on local market conditions such as variations in the transaction fees we receive, competition, overall trends in ATM-transaction levels and performance of individual ATMs.

We cannot predict the increase or decrease in the number of ATMs we manage under outsourcing agreements, because this depends largely on the willingness of banks to enter into outsourcing contracts with us. Banks are very deliberate in negotiating these agreements and the process of negotiating and signing outsourcing agreements typically takes nine to twelve months or longer. Moreover, banks evaluate a wide range of matters when deciding to choose an outsource vender and generally this decision is subject to extensive management analysis and approvals. The process is exacerbated by the legal and regulatory considerations of local countries as well as local language complexities. These agreements tend to cover large numbers of ATMs, so significant increases and decreases in our pool of managed ATMs could result from signature or termination of these management contracts. In this regard, the timing of both current and new contract revenues is uncertain and unpredictable.

We plan to expand our prepaid mobile phone top-up business, which is currently focused on the U.K. and Australia, into our other markets by taking advantage of our existing relationships with mobile phone operators and retailers. This expansion will depend on various factors, including the following:

- · the ability to negotiate new agreements for those markets with mobile phone operators and retailers
- the continuation of the trend of increased use of electronic prepaid airtime among mobile phone users
- · the development of mobile phone networks in these markets and the increase in the number of mobile phone users
- the availability of financing for the expansion

We expect to spend between \$2.5 million and \$3.0 million on fixed asset purchases to implement our expansion plans and necessary upgrades or modifications of our processing system in 2003. We expect to use cash on hand and cash flows from operations and potentially lease financing to fund these expenses.

In addition, our continued expansion may involve acquisitions that could divert our resources and management time and require integration of new assets with our existing networks and services. Our ability to manage our rapid expansion effectively will require us eventually to expand our operating systems and employee base. An inability to do this could have a material adverse effect on our business, growth, financial condition or results of operations.

We are subject to business cycles and other outside factors that may negatively affect mobile phone operators, retailers and our customers.

A recessionary economic environment or other outside factors could have a negative impact on mobile phone operators, retailers and our customers, which could, in turn, negatively impact our financial results. If mobile phone operators experience decreased demand for their products and services or if the retail locations where we provide POS top-up services decrease in number, we will process fewer transactions, resulting in lower revenue. In addition, a recessionary economic environment could result in a higher rate of bankruptcy filings by mobile phone operators, retailers and our customers, which will have a negative impact on our business.

Our prepaid mobile airtime top-up business may be susceptible to fraud occurring at the retailer level.

We contract with retailers that accept payment on our behalf, which we then transfer to a trust account for payment to mobile phone operators. In the event a retailer does not transfer to us payments that it receives for mobile phone airtime, we are responsible to the mobile phone operator for the cost of the airtime credited to the customer's mobile phone. Although we maintain insurance polices and take other precautions to mitigate this risk, we can provide no assurance that retailer fraud will not increase in the future or that any proceeds we receive under our insurance policies will be adequate to cover losses resulting from retailer fraud, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Because we typically enter into short-term contracts with mobile phone operators and retailers, our top-up business is subject to the risk of non-renewal of those contracts.

Our contracts with mobile phone operators to process prepaid mobile phone airtime recharge services typically have terms of two years or less. Many of those contracts may be canceled by either party upon three months notice. Our contracts with mobile phone operators are not exclusive, so these operators may enter into top-up contracts with other service providers. In addition, our top-up service contracts with major retailers typically have terms of one to two years and our contracts with smaller retailers typically may be canceled by either party upon three months' notice. The cancellation or non-renewal of one or more of our significant mobile phone operator or retail contracts, or of a large enough group of our contracts with smaller retailers, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In the U.S. certain processes we employ may be subject to patent protection by other parties.

We have commenced prepaid processing operations in the U.S. The contribution of these operations to our financial results is currently insignificant, but we hope to expand this business rapidly. In the U.S., patent protection legislation permits the protection of processes. We employ certain processes in the U.S. that have been used in the industry by other parties for many years, and which we and other companies using the same or similar processes consider to be in the public domain. However, we are aware that certain parties believe they hold patents that cover some of the processes employed in the prepaid processing industry in the U.S. The question of whether a process is in the public domain is a legal determination, and if this issue is litigated we cannot be certain of the outcome of any such litigation. If a person were to assert that its holds a patent covering any of the processes we use, we would be required to defend ourselves against such claim and if unsuccessful, would be required to either modify our processes or pay license fees for the use of such processes. This could materially and adversely affect our U.S. prepaid processing business and could result in our reconsidering the rate of expansion of this business in the U.S.

The level of transactions on our ATM networks is subject to substantial seasonal variation, which may cause our quarterly results to fluctuate materially and create volatility in the price of our shares.

Our experience is that the level of transactions on our networks is subject to substantial seasonal variation. Transaction levels have consistently been much higher in the last quarter of the year due to increased use of ATMs during the holiday season. The level of transactions drops in the first quarter, during which transaction levels are generally the lowest we experience during the year. Since revenues of the EFT Processing Services Segment are primarily transaction-based, this segment is directly affected by this cyclically. As a result of these seasonal variations, our quarterly operating results may fluctuate materially and could lead to volatility in the price of our shares.

The stability and growth of our ATM business depend on maintaining our current card acceptance and ATM management agreements with banks and international card organizations, and on securing new arrangements for card acceptance and ATM management.

The stability and future growth of our ATM business depends in part on our ability to sign card acceptance and ATM management agreements with banks and international card organizations. Card acceptance agreements allow our ATMs to accept credit and debit cards issued by banks and international card organizations. ATM management agreements generate service income from our management of ATMs for banks. These agreements are the primary source of our ATM business revenues.

These agreements have expiration dates and banks and international card organizations are generally not obligated to renew them. In some cases, banks may terminate their contracts prior to the expiration of their terms. We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to sign or maintain these agreements on terms and conditions acceptable to us or that international card organizations will continue to permit our ATMs to accept their credit and debit cards. The inability to continue to sign or maintain these agreements, or to continue to accept the credit and debit cards of local banks and international card organizations at our ATMs in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our business, growth, financial condition or results of operations.

Retaining the founders of our Company and of e-pay and finding and retaining qualified personnel in Europe are essential to our continued success.

Our strategy and its implementation depend in large part on the founders of our Company, in particular Michael Brown and Daniel Henry, and their continued involvement in Euronet in the future. In addition, the success of the expansion of e-pay's business depends in large part upon the retention of e-pay's founders, Paul Althasen and John Gardiner. Our success also depends in part on our ability to hire and retain highly skilled and qualified management, operating, marketing, financial and technical personnel. The competition for qualified personnel in Central Europe and the other markets where we conduct our business is intense and, accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to hire or retain the required personnel.

Our officers and some of our key personnel have entered into service or employment agreements containing non-competition, non-disclosure and non-solicitation covenants and providing for the granting of incentive stock options with long-term vesting requirements. However, most of these contracts do not guarantee that these individuals will continue their employment with us. The loss of our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, growth, financial condition or results of operations.

Our operating results depend in part on the volume of transactions on ATMs in our network and the fees we can collect from processing these transactions.

Transaction fees from banks and international card organizations for transactions processed on our ATMs have historically accounted for a substantial majority of our revenues. Although we are less dependent on these fees due to our recent acquisition of e-pay, the future operating results of our ATM business depend on the following factors:

- the increased issuance of credit and debit cards
- · the increased acceptance of our ATM processing and management services in our target markets
- the maintenance of the level of transaction fees we receive
- the installation of larger numbers of ATMs
- · the continued use of our ATMs by credit and debit cardholders

Although we believe that the volume of transactions in developing countries will tend to increase due to growth in the number of cards being issued by banks in these markets, we anticipate that transaction levels on any given ATM in developing markets will not increase significantly. We can improve the levels of transactions on our ATM network overall by acquiring good sites for our ATMs, eliminating poor locations, entering new less-developed markets and adding new transactions to the sets of transactions that are available on our ATMs. However, we may not be successful in materially increasing transaction levels through these measures.

Developments in electronic financial transactions, such as the increased use of debit cards by customers and pass-through of ATM transaction fees by banks to customers, or in the mobile phone industry, could materially reduce ATM transaction levels and our revenues.

Certain developments in the field of electronic financial transactions may reduce the amount of cash that individuals need on a daily basis, including the promotion by international card organizations and banks of the use of bank debit cards for transactions of small amounts. These developments may reduce the transaction levels that we experience on our ATMs in the markets where they occur. Banks also could elect to pass through to their customers all, or a large part of, the fees we charge for transactions on our ATMs. This would increase the cost of using our ATM machines to the banks' customers, which may cause a decline in the use of our ATM machines and, thus, have an adverse effect on revenues. If transaction levels over our existing ATM network do not increase, growth in our revenues will depend primarily on rolling out ATMs at new sites and developing new markets, which requires capital investment and resources and reduces the margin we realize from our revenues.

The mobile phone industry is a rapidly evolving area, in which technological developments, in particular the development of new methods or services, may affect the demand for other services in a dramatic way. The development of any new technology that reduced the need or demand for prepaid mobile phone time could materially and adversely affect our business.

We generally have little control over the ATM transaction fees established in the markets where we operate, and therefore cannot control any potential reductions in these fees.

The amount of fees we receive per transaction is set in various ways in the markets in which we do business. We have card acceptance agreements or ATM management agreements with some banks under which fees are set. However, we derive the bulk of our revenues in most markets from "interchange fees" that are set by the central ATM processing switch. The banks that participate in

these switches set the interchange fee, and we are not in a position in any market to influence greatly these fees, which may increase or decrease over time. A significant decrease in the interchange fee in any market could adversely affect our results in that market.

In some cases, we are dependent upon international card organizations and national transaction processing switches to provide assistance in obtaining settlement from card issuers of funds relating to transactions on our ATMs.

Our ATMs dispense cash relating to transaction on credit and debit cards issued by banks. We have in place arrangements for the settlement to us of all of those transactions, but in some cases we do not have a direct relationship with the card-issuing bank and rely for settlement on the application of rules that are administered by international card associations (such as Visa or MasterCard) or national transaction processing switches. If a bank fails to settle transactions in accordance with those rules, we are dependent upon cooperation from such organizations or switches to enforce our right of settlement against such banks. Failure by such organizations or switches to provide the required cooperation could result in our inability to obtain settlement of funds relating to transactions and adversely affect our business.

We derive a significant amount of revenue in of our business from service contracts signed with financial institutions to own and or operate their ATM machines. Certain contracts have been and, in the future, may be terminated by the financial institution resulting in a substantial reduction in revenue. Contract termination payments, if any, may be inadequate to replace revenues and operating income associated with these contracts.

Because our business is highly dependent on the proper operation of our computer network and telecommunications connections, significant technical disruptions to these systems would adversely affect our revenues and financial results.

Our business involves the operation and maintenance of a sophisticated computer network and telecommunications connections with banks, financial institutions, mobile operators and retailers. This, in turn, requires the maintenance of computer equipment and infrastructure, including telecommunications and electrical systems, and the integration and enhancement of complex software applications. There are operational risks inherent in this type of business that can result in the temporary shutdown of part or all of our processing systems, such as failure of electrical supply, failure of computer hardware and software errors. Excluding our German ATMs, we operate all of our ATMs through our Budapest processing center, and any operational problem in Budapest may have a significant adverse impact on the operation of our network generally. In addition, we operate all of our top-up services through our processing center in the U.K., and any operational problem there could have a significant adverse impact on the operation of our top-up network.

We employ experienced operations and computer development staff and have created redundancies and procedures, particularly in our Budapest and U.K. processing centers, to decrease these risks. However, these risks cannot be eliminated entirely. Any technical failure that prevents operation of our systems for a significant period of time will prevent us from processing transactions during that period of time and will directly and adversely affect our revenues and financial results.

We have the risk of liability for fraudulent bankcard and other card transactions involving a breach in our security systems, as well as for ATM theft and vandalism.

We capture, transmit, handle and store sensitive information in conducting and managing electronic, financial and mobile transactions, such as card information and PIN numbers. These businesses involve certain inherent security risks, in particular the risk of electronic interception and theft of the information for use in fraudulent card transactions. We incorporate industry-standard encryption technology and processing methodology into our systems and software to maintain high levels of security. Although this technology and methodology decrease security risks, they cannot be eliminated entirely as criminal elements apply increasingly sophisticated technology to attempt to obtain unauthorized access to the information handled by ATM and electronic financial transaction networks.

Any breach in our security systems could result in the perpetration of fraudulent financial transactions for which we may be found liable. We are insured against various risks, including theft and negligence, but our insurance coverage is subject to deductibles, exclusions and limitations that may leave us bearing some or all of any losses arising from security breaches.

In addition to electronic fraud issues, the possible theft and vandalism of ATMs present risks for our ATM business. We install ATMs at high-traffic sites and consequently our ATMs are exposed to theft and vandalism. Although we are insured against these risks, exclusions or limitations in our insurance coverage may leave us bearing some or all of any loss arising from theft or vandalism of ATMs.

We are required under German law and the rules of financial transaction switching networks in all of our markets to have "sponsors" to operate ATMs and switch ATM transactions. Our failure to secure "sponsor" arrangements in any market could prevent us from doing business in that market.

Under German law, only a licensed financial institution may operate ATMs, and we are therefore required to have a "sponsor" bank to conduct our German ATM operations. In addition, in all of our markets, our ATMs are connected to national financial transaction switching networks owned or operated by banks, and to other international financial transaction switching networks operated by organizations such as Citibank, Visa and MasterCard. The rules governing these switching networks require any company sending transactions through these switches to be a bank or a technical service processor that is approved and monitored by a bank. As a result, the operation of our ATM network in all of our markets depends on our ability to secure these "sponsor"-type arrangements with financial institutions.

To date, we have been successful in reaching contractual arrangements that have permitted us to operate in all of our target markets. However, we cannot assure you that we will continue to be successful in reaching these arrangements, and it is possible that our current arrangements will not continue to be renewed.

Our competition in the EFT Processing Services Segment and Prepaid Processing Services Segments include large, well-financed companies and banks and, in the software market, companies larger than us with earlier entry into the market. As a result, we may lack the financial resources and access needed to capture increased market share.

EFT Processing Services Segment – Our principal EFT Processing Services competitors include ATM networks owned by banks and national switches consisting of consortiums of local banks that provide outsourcing and transaction services only to banks and independent ATM deployers in that country. Large, well-financed companies that operate ATMs, such as EDS, American Express, First Data Corporation or Concord EFS may also establish ATM networks or offer outsourcing services that compete with us in various markets. Competitive factors in our EFT Processing Services business include network availability and response time, price to both the bank and to its customers, ATM location and access to other networks. Our competitors may introduce or expand their ATM networks in the future, which would lead to a decline in the usage of our ATMs.

There are certain independent (non bank-owned) companies providing electronic recharge on ATMs in individual markets in which we provide this service. We are not aware of any individual independent companies providing electronic recharge on ATMs across multiple markets in which we provide this service. In this area, we believe competition will come principally from the banks providing such services on their own ATMs through relationships with mobile operators or from card transaction switching networks that add recharge transaction capabilities to their offerings (as is the case in the U.K. through the LINK network). However, there are relatively few barriers to entry in this business and larger companies that have more financial resources than we do could successfully compete with us based on a number of factors, including price.

Software Solutions Segment – We believe we are the leading supplier of electronic financial transaction processing software for the IBM iSeries (formerly AS/400) platform. Other suppliers service the software requirements of large mainframe systems and UNIX based platforms.

Competitors of the Software Solutions Segment compete across all EFT software components in the following areas: (i) ATM, network and point-of-sale software systems, (ii) Internet banking software systems, (iii) credit card software systems and (iv) wireless banking software systems. One competitor is Applied Communications Inc. ("ACI") based in Omaha, Nebraska, which enjoys a large market share due to its early entry into the financial systems software market and a client base of larger banks and financial institutions. Other competitors include Mosaic Software and Oasis Software International.

Competitive factors in the Software Solutions business include price, technology development and the ability of software systems to interact with other leading products.

Prepaid Processing Services Segment – Several companies offer electronic recharge services for mobile phone airtime on POS terminals in the markets where we do business. These companies include Alphyra, Paypoint, Omega Logic, Barclays Merchant Services and Anpost in the U.K.; and On-Q and Ezipin in Australia and Milo, Kolporter and G Tech in Poland.

We believe, however, that we currently have a competitive advantage due to various factors. First, in the U.K. and Australia, our newly acquired subsidiary has been in existence for longer than most of our competitors and has significant market share in those markets. We have approximately 35% of the POS recharge market in the U.K. and 70% in Australia. In addition, we offer

complementary ATM and mobile recharge solutions through our processing center. We believe this will improve our ability to solicit the use of networks of devices owned by third parties (for example, banks and switching networks) to deliver recharge services. In selected developing markets we hope to establish a first to market advantage by rolling out terminals rapidly before competition is established. We also have an extremely flexible technical platform that enables us to tailor point of sale solutions to individual merchant requirements where appropriate.

The principal competitive factors in this area include price (that is, the level of commission charged for each recharge transaction) and up time offered on the system. Major retailers with high volumes are in a position to demand a larger share of the commission, which increases the amount of competition among service providers.

As the volume of transactions increases, we believe the principal factor in competition will be quality and price, as competitors may offer lower commissions to secure business.

In addition to the above competitive factors, it is possible that mobile operators themselves may take over the distribution of their own prepaid mobile phone time. They would be able to terminate our contracts with them, which could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We conduct a significant portion of our business in Central and Eastern European countries, and we have subsidiaries in the Middle East and Asia, where the risk of continued political, economic and regulatory change that could impact our operating results is greater than in the U.S. or Western Europe.

Certain tax jurisdictions that we operate in have complex rates regarding the valuation of inter-company services, payments between company-countries and the related effects on income tax, value added tax (VAT), transfers tax and share registration tax. From time to time, we may be reviewed by tax authorities and required to make additional tax payments should the review result in different interpretations, allocations or valuations of our services. We obtain legal, tax and regulatory advice as necessary to ensure compliance with tax and regulatory matters.

We have subsidiaries in Hungary, Poland, Czech Republic, Romania, Croatia, India, and Indonesia and have operations in other countries in Central Europe, the Middle East and Asia. We sell software in many other markets in the developing world. These countries have undergone significant political, economic and social change in recent years and the risk of new, unforeseen changes in these countries remains greater than in the U.S. or Western Europe. In particular, changes in laws or regulations or in the interpretation of existing laws or regulations, whether caused by a change in government or otherwise, could materially adversely affect our business, growth, financial condition or results of operations.

For example, currently there are no limitations on the repatriation of profits from all of the countries in which we have subsidiaries, but foreign exchange control restrictions, taxes or limitations may be imposed or increased in the future with regard to repatriation of earnings and investments from these countries. If exchange control restrictions, taxes or limitations are imposed, our ability to receive dividends or other payments from affected subsidiaries could be reduced, which may have a material adverse effect on us.

In addition, corporate, contract, property, insolvency, competition, securities and other laws and regulations in Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Romania, Croatia and other countries in Central Europe have been, and continue to be, substantially revised during the completion of their transition to market economies. Therefore, the interpretation and procedural safeguards of the new legal and regulatory systems are in the process of being developed and defined, and existing laws and regulations may be applied inconsistently. Also, in some circumstances, it may not be possible to obtain the legal remedies provided for under these laws and regulations in a reasonably timely manner, if at all. Transmittal of data by electronic means and telecommunications is subject to specific regulation in most Central European countries. Although these regulations have not had a material impact on our business to date, changes in these regulations, including taxation or limitations on transfers of data across national borders, could have a material adverse effect on our business, growth, financial condition or results of operations.

Because we derive our revenue from a multitude of countries with different currencies, our business is affected by local inflation and foreign exchange rates and policies.

We attempt to match any assets denominated in a currency with liabilities denominated in the same currency. Nonetheless, substantially all of our indebtedness is denominated in euro and a significant amount of our expenditures, including the acquisition of ATMs and executive salaries, are made in U.S. dollars. As exchange rates among the U.S. dollar, the euro and other currencies fluctuate, the translation effect of these fluctuations may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition as reported in U.S. dollars. Moreover, exchange rate policies have not always allowed for the free conversion of currencies at the market rate.

In recent years, Hungary, Poland and the Czech Republic have experienced high levels of inflation. Consequently, these countries' currencies have continued to decline in value against the major currencies of the OECD over this time period. Due to the significant reduction in the inflation rate of these countries in recent years, none of these countries are considered to have a hyper-inflationary economy. Nonetheless, rates of inflation in these countries may continue to fluctuate from time to time. The majority of all three of our subsidiaries' revenues are denominated in the local currency.

The terms of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law generally, may discourage the acquisition of our Company and may impede a change in control of our Company.

Among other things, the provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws have the following effects:

- They classify our Board of Directors into three classes serving staggered three-year terms
- · They permit our Board of Directors, without further stockholder approval, to issue preferred stock
- · They prohibit us from engaging in some types of business combinations with interested stockholders
- · They do not permit our stockholders to call special stockholder meetings

These provisions could diminish the opportunities for a stockholder to participate in tender offers, including tender offers at a price above the market value of our common stock at the time of the offer. The issuance of preferred stock could also adversely affect the voting power of the holders of common stock and impede a change in control of our Company. In addition, our Board of Directors recently adopted a stockholder rights plan, which may impede a change in control of our Company.

Our directors and officers, together with the entities with which they are associated, owned about 22% of our common stock as of September 30, 2003, giving them significant control over decisions related to our Company.

This control includes the ability to influence the election of other directors of our Company and to cast a large block of votes with respect to virtually all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders. This concentration of control may have the effect of delaying or preventing transactions or a potential change of control of our Company.

The sale of a substantial amount of our common stock in the public market could materially decrease the market price of our common stock, and about 33% of our outstanding common stock, while not currently traded publicly, could be publicly traded in blocks in the future.

If a substantial amount of our common stock were sold in the public market, or even targeted for sale, this could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock and our ability to sell common stock in the future. As of September 30, 2003, we had 26.8 million shares of common stock outstanding of which more than 8.7 million shares, or about 33%, are not currently traded on the public market. About 6.0 million of these shares are held by persons who may be deemed to be our affiliates and who would be subject to Rule 144 of the general rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Rule 144 limits the number of shares that affiliates can publicly sell during each 90-day period. However, over the course of time, these shares have the potential to be publicly traded, perhaps in large blocks. Moreover, some of these shareholders can require us to register transactions to sell their shares, which would permit them to sell shares without regard to the Rule 144 limitations. In this connection, we agreed as part of the e-pay acquisition to register 3,144,786 shares of our common stock for resale not later than February 19, 2004.

An additional 6.9 million shares of common stock could be added to the total outstanding common stock through the exercise of options and warrants or the conversion of notes. This could dilute the ownership percentage of current stockholders. Also, once they are outstanding, these shares of common stock could be traded in the future and result in a material decrease in the market price of our common stock.

As of September 30, 2002, we had an aggregate of 6.0 million options outstanding held by our directors, officers and employees, which entitles these holders to acquire an equal number of shares of our common stock on exercise. Of this amount, 2.9 million options are currently vested, which means they can be exercised at any time. We have 254,010 warrants outstanding in connection with our issuance of 12 3/8% Senior Discount Notes. In addition, the convertible notes issued in the e-pay acquisition are convertible into 647,282 shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of \$11.43 per share, and may be publicly resold commencing February 19, 2004, or earlier if we force their conversion, pursuant to a registration statement we agreed to file with the SEC. Therefore, approximately 6.9 million shares could potentially be added to the total current outstanding common stock through the exercise of options and warrants, or the conversion of notes, and thereby dilute the ownership percentage of current owners.

Of these 6.0 million total options, an aggregate of 1.6 million options are held by persons who may be deemed to be our affiliates and who would be subject to Rule 144. Thus, upon exercise of their options, these affiliates' shares would be subject to the trading

restrictions imposed by Rule 144. For the remainder of the options and the convertible notes, the common stock issued on their exercise or conversion would be freely tradable in the public market. Over the course of time, all of the issued shares have the potential to be publicly traded, perhaps in large blocks.